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Statistics in this report, including those in the financial statements,

mainly cover the period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020. Some

of the statistics have been updated to September 2020, where
appropriate, to reflect the updated situation.
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To provide full support to the Communications Authority in fulfilling its vision that .
Hong Kong has the world-class communications services to meet the challenges o
of the information age. %%,
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We are committed to -

e Public - Fulfilling the needs and expectations of the community

* Industry - Providing a fair regulatory environment conducive to innovation and
business investment
® Economy - Maintaining Hong Kong's position as a pre-eminent communications
centre in the region to support economic development
e Staff - Maintaining a cohesive, versatile and professional team and nurturing a
working environment that recognises and rewards results
oolee, * Civil Service - Being a model department that performs effectively and efficiently
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e Integrity - Neutrality, impartiality, transparency, accountability, openness

* Professionalism - Expertise, discipline, credibility, ethics, commitment

e Respect for the Community, Clients and Staff - Freedom of expression,
responsiveness, understanding, efficiency, effectiveness

e Foresight - A proactive attitude, anticipation, awareness
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"We have entered the exciting
5G era, which will undoubtedly
accelerate growth and drive
innovation in the communications
industry."
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| am delighted to present the 2019/20 annual report
of the Office of the Communications Authority (OFCA)
Trading Fund.

Hong Kong faced social and economic challenges
during the year. Yet, the development of the
telecommunications market continued to stay
strong, resilient and healthy. Local mobile and fixed
broadband penetration rates remained one of the
highest in the world.

The number of mobile service subscriptions increased
to over 23 million in 2019/20, and the subscriber
penetration rate reached 275%. Mobile data usage by
customers continued to register remarkable growth:
the total volume of mobile data usage surged to 75 664
Terabytes per month, representing an average monthly
per capita mobile data consumption of 10 Gigabytes.

The commercial launch of the fifth generation (5G)
services from 1 April 2020 has taken the Hong Kong
telecommunications market to a new era, opening
up tremendous new business opportunities to the
industry and bringing to the general public new
possibilities of innovative telecommunications services
and applications.

In addition, Hong Kong is home to some of the most
advanced optical-fibre networks in the world, giving
local consumers choices of a full range of affordable
high-speed broadband services. As of March
2020, there were more than 2.8 million broadband
subscriptions with the household broadband
penetration rate exceeding 94%, and over 80% of
the subscriptions were served by optical fibre to the
buildings/premises.

Hong Kong has a vibrant broadcasting sector
offering a wide range of services to the community.
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We have access to over 800 local and overseas
television channels in various languages through
free-to-air terrestrial and satellite reception or pay
television services and 13 local radio channels. With
its geographical location, excellent infrastructure and
other favourable factors, Hong Kong is a prime location
for uplinking satellite television services. At present,
there are 12 non-domestic television programme
service licensees providing over 180 satellite television
channels for audiences in the Asia-Pacific region. With
the "open sky” policy of the Government, residents
are able to receive unencrypted satellite television
programme channels uplinked from Hong Kong and
elsewhere in the world for free. There are now over
400 such free satellite television channels available for
reception in Hong Kong.

2019/20 has been a year of significant progress for
OFCA. | would like to highlight some of our major
accomplishments during the year below.

Facilitating the launch of 5G services was a major focus of
our work in 2019/20. We assisted the Communications
Authority (CA) in making available a total of about 4 500
MHz of spectrum in multiple frequency bands for the
deployment of 5G, laying the foundation for an exciting
new chapter for Hong Kong's communications industry
and telecommunications service users.

With an ample supply of high frequency spectrum
in the 26 GHz and 28 GHz bands, the CA decided to
assign the spectrum administratively. Three incumbent
mobile network operators (MNOs) applying for

9
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assignment were each assigned 400 MHz of spectrum
in the two bands in April 2019 for the provision of large
scale public mobile services including 5G services. In
addition, application was opened in July 2019 for the
assignment of up to 400 MHz of spectrum in the 26
GHz and 28 GHz bands for use on a geographically
shared basis to provide localised wireless broadband
services (LWBS), and the first assignment of the shared

spectrum was made in October 2019.

As for the 5G spectrum in the low to mid frequency
bands, we assisted the CA in auctioning off a total of
380 MHz of spectrum to the industry in October and
November 2019. It includes 100 MHz of spectrum in
the 3.3 GHz band, 200 MHz of spectrum in the 3.5 GHz
band and 80 MHz of spectrum in the 4.9 GHz band for
the provision of 5G services in Hong Kong.

Following the outcome of a consultancy study
commissioned by OFCA, it was determined that the
existing Satellite Master Antenna Television (SMATV)
systems in buildings for receiving and distributing
satellite TV signals to occupants would need to
be upgraded in order to co-exist with 5G systems
operating in the adjacent 3.5 GHz band starting from
1 April 2020. OFCA launched a subsidy scheme in
November 2019 with funding provided by the four
5G MNOs using the 3.5 GHz band to support the
upgrading of existing SMATV systems. The scheme
would run for one year with OFCA serving as the
administrator as jointly elected by the MNOs.

As a long term solution to lift the restriction zone in
Tai Po so that the 3.5 GHz spectrum could be used
there for provision of 5G services, OFCA has been
discussing with the concerned satellite operators
the relocation of their satellite earth station facilities
operating at the 3.5 GHz band from Tai Po to the
Chung Hom Kok Teleport. OFCA is working closely
with the satellite operators and the relevant bureaux
and departments with a view to resolving the land
and technical issues.

After the completion of the review of the Class Licence
for Offer of Telecommunications Services (CLOTS) in
April 2019, OFCA assisted the CA to implement the
revised licensing regime of the CLOTS and issued
guidelines in August 2019 to assist licensees with a
customer base of 10 000 subscriptions or more to
register their business information with the CA. As
of September 2020, 20 CLOTS licensees had been
registered.

In support of the Government'’s policy initiative to
promote the extension of fibre-based networks to
remote villages, OFCA has implemented a subsidy
scheme with a funding of HK$770 million to provide
financial incentives for telecommunications operators
to extend their fibre-based networks to villages in
remote areas. During the year, OFCA completed
the tender exercises and awarded all six projects
to the selected fixed network operators. OFCA will
closely monitor the implementation progress of these
projects. The new fibre-based networks are expected
to be extended to the villages concerned in phases
from 2021 onwards.

In order to reinforce Hong Kong's role as a regional
telecommunications hub, the Chief Executive
proposed in the 2019 Policy Address Supplement
to provide suitable land lots in the Chung Hom
Kok Teleport for the establishment of additional
external telecommunications infrastructures. OFCA
is working closely with the relevant bureaux and
departments to make the relevant land lots available
in the coming few years.
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The work of OFCA goes beyond promoting a conducive
business environment and protecting consumers’
interests. Consumer education is also an important part
of our work. In order to increase consumers’ awareness
and help them to make informed choices on different
types of telecommunications services, we continued
our public education programmes during the past year,
including a series of TV and radio announcements in
the public interest, roving exhibitions, public seminars
and consumer education programmes tailor-made for
schools.

OFCA assisted the CA in implementing relaxation
measures in response to the increasingly challenging
business environment for the broadcasting industry so
as to ease their regulatory burdens. In consideration
of a request from a licensee and the policy views of
relevant government bureaux, the CA decided to lift
the requirements for free TV licensees to broadcast
programmes of Radio Television Hong Kong (RTHK) and
Educational Television (ETV) programmes for schools with
effect from 4 March 2020 and 6 June 2020 respectively.

With the switching off of analogue television services
(ASO) planned to proceed on 30 November 2020
(23:59 hours), Hong Kong will enter an era of full
digital terrestrial television (DTT) broadcasting from
1 December 2020 onwards. A total of 140 MHz of
spectrum in the 614 - 806 MHz band will be made
available for the provision of mobile telecommunications
services subsequent to the ASO. We are working closely
with the broadcasters and stakeholders to coordinate the
implementation arrangements for ASO and the vacation
of the relevant spectrum.

Since the commercial launch of 5G services on 1 April
2020, we have entered the exciting 5G era, which will
undoubtedly accelerate growth and drive innovation in
the communications industry. In the year ahead, OFCA

will continue to support the development of 5G services
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in Hong Kong and assist the CA to make available
more spectrum in different frequency bands, including
new spectrum in the 600 MHz and 700 MHz bands
and additional spectrum in the 4.9 GHz band, for the
provision of 5G or other innovative mobile services.

In light of the expiry of the existing assignments of
spectrum in the 850 MHz band and 2.5/2.6 GHz band
in November 2023 and March 2024 respectively,
OFCA will assist the CA to conduct the re-assignment
exercise for spectrum in these two bands with the
launch of public consultations.

OFCA will also continue to work with relevant government
departments to facilitate the effective rollout of 5G networks
and services across Hong Kong, including opening up
suitable government premises, sheltered bus stops and
public payphone kiosks for installation of radio base
stations to extend 5G network coverage.

On the broadcasting front, OFCA will assist the CA in
conducting a mid-term review of the free TV licences
of HK Television Entertainment Company Limited
(HKTVE), Television Broadcasts Limited (TVB) and
Fantastic Television Limited (Fantastic TV) and the sound
broadcasting licences of Hong Kong Commercial
Broadcasting Company Limited (CRHK) and Metro
Broadcast Corporation Limited (Metro). The CA will
assess the performance of these licensees during the first
six years of their respective licences, and collect views
of the general public on service needs and regulatory
requirements through a consultation process. The
outcome of the review, including the recommendations
to improve the services provided by the licensees in the
remaining years of their licences, will be submitted for
consideration by the Chief Executive in Council.

Despite all the challenges ahead, | am confident
that with the dedication and hard work of the
professional team of colleagues in OFCA, as well as
the guidance from the Chairman and Members of the
CA, we will continue to foster the development of the
broadcasting and telecommunications market in the
years to come.

)
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Preparing for the Switching Off of
Analogue Television Services and the
Migration to Full Digital Terrestrial
Television Services

In Hong Kong, both analogue television and DTT
services are currently operated in the 470 - 806 MHz
band, the frequency band allocated by the International
Telecommunication Union (ITU) primarily for TV
broadcasting services worldwide. With ASO scheduled
on 30 November 2020 (23:59 hours), Hong Kong will
enter an era of full DTT broadcasting from 1 December
2020 onwards. ASO will vacate valuable spectrum in
the 614 - 806 MHz band to address the increasing
demand for spectrum for high value-added mobile
telecommunications services.

During the year, OFCA worked closely with broadcasters,
including TVB, HKTVE (which operates ViuTV), Fantastic
TV (which operates Hong Kong Open TV), RTHK, and
relevant stakeholders to make preparations for ASO
in Hong Kong and the vacation of the 614 - 806 MHz
band for mobile telecommunications services after ASO.
OFCA also maintained close liaison with the Mainland
authorities on post-ASO frequency coordination matters.
In July 2019, advance notices were issued to TVB, HKTVE
and RTHK on the variation of their spectrum assignments
currently used for the transmission of Jade, ViuTV,
ViuTVsix, RTHK31, RTHK32 and RTHK33 TV channels, to
take effect on 1 December 2021. To ensure a smooth
transition to full DTT broadcasting, OFCA has been
convening a technical working group since September
2019 comprising representatives from broadcasters and
industry players to prepare and coordinate the relevant
technical implementation arrangements for ASO and the
variation of the spectrum assignments.

e
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After ASO, TVB, HKTVE and RTHK will be required to
relocate their TV frequency channels in the 614 - 806
MHz band to the 470 - 614 MHz band, thereby making
available a total of 140 MHz of spectrum in the 614 - 806
MHz band for the provision of high value-added mobile
telecommunications services. OFCA has been coordinating
with the Mainland authorities on the use of the radio
spectrum in the 470 - 806 MHz band and will work with the
relevant broadcasters and stakeholders on ASO as well as
the relocation of the relevant TV frequency channels.

Review of Television and Sound
Broadcasting Regulatory Frameworks
by the Government

With OFCA’s support, the Commerce and
Economic Development Bureau (CEDB) completed
a review of the television and sound broadcasting
regulatory frameworks with a view to removing
out-dated requirements for licensed broadcasters
so as to further promote the development of
the local broadcasting industry. Following the
review, CEDB introduced in the Sixth Legislative
Council (LegCo) term the Broadcasting and
Telecommunications Legislation (Amendment) Bill
2019 proposing legislative amendments for the
relaxation measures.

Licence Administration

Lifting of the Requirements for Domestic Free
Television Programme Service Licensees to
Broadcast Educational Television Programmes
and RTHK Programmes

We assisted the CA in implementing relaxation
measures by lifting the requirements for domestic free
television programme service (free TV) licensees to
broadcast ETV programmes and RTHK programmes,
thereby easing the regulatory burdens on the licensees
having regard to the changing circumstances.

In response to a request from TVB received in
August 2019 to cease the requirement for the
broadcast of ETV programmes', the CA consulted

Chapter 2 | Development of the Broadcasting Industry @
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the relevant policy bureaux, i.e. CEDB and the
Education Bureau. In light of the growing trend in
accessing ETV programmes through the Internet
and mobile application, the demand for viewing ETV
programmes on free TV channels at designated hours
on each school day will further diminish in the future.
Therefore, the CA announced its decision in January
2020 to lift the requirement on the broadcast of ETV
programmes by free TV licensees after the end of the
school year on 6 June 2020. The public will continue
to have access to ETV programmes through RTHK's
free TV channels and other new media platforms.

In January 2020, the CA received a request from
TVB to lift the requirement on the broadcast of
RTHK programmes®. The CA consulted the relevant
policy bureau, i.e. CEDB and noted that RTHK had
no objection. After careful consideration of relevant
factors (including the coverage of RTHK’s own
DTT channels and the policy objective to provide
diversified programme choices to the public, etc.),
the CA announced its decision in March 2020 to
revoke the directions issued to free TV licensees on
the broadcast of RTHK programmes.

Applications for Grant/Renewal of Non-
domestic Television Programme Service
Licence and Other Licensable Television
Programme Service Licences

In 2019720, OFCA processed an application for renewal of
non-domestic television programme service licence, which
was subsequently rejected by the CA, and two applications
for renewal of other licensable television programme
service licences for the provision of television programme
services in hotel rooms in Hong Kong, which were approved
by the CA. OFCA also handled a case of termination of
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other licensable television programme service licence upon
application by the licensee.

Handling of Broadcast Complaints

The CA does not pre-censor broadcast content.
Instead, it adopts a complaint-driven approach
to ensure that broadcast content complies with
prevailing legislation, licence conditions and the
codes of practice that it has issued. As the executive
arm of the CA, OFCA assists the CA in handling
complaints about broadcast materials in accordance
with provisions in the Broadcasting (Miscellaneous
Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391) (B(MP)O) and the
broadcast complaint handling procedures of the CA.

In 2019/20, OFCA handled 1 189 cases (involving
22 179 complaints)®, which represented a
reduction of 21% in the number of cases, but
a significant increase of 480% in the number of
complaints processed®, as compared with the
figures recorded in 2018/19 (1 504 cases, involving
3 827 complaints). Among those cases handled, 11
cases (involving 19 517 complaints) were referred
to the Broadcast Complaints Committee under
the CA for consideration before submission to the
CA for deliberation and determination. Details
of the complaint cases considered by the CA are
published on its website. The Director-General of
Communications handled the remaining 1 178 cases
(involving 2 662 complaints) relating to breaches of a
minor nature, or allegations which did not constitute
any breach or were outside the remit of section 11(1)
of the B(MP)O (i.e. the substance of the complaints
did not involve contravention of relevant legislation,
licence conditions or provisions in the codes of
practice) with powers delegated by the CA.

' According to the Broadcasting Ordinance (BO) and the free TV licences, the CA may direct a licensee to broadcast without charge any ETV

programmes supplied by the Government.

? Pursuant to the relevant licence condition in the free TV licences, the CA may direct a licensee to broadcast TV programmes and other

material in the public interest provided by the Government.

............

*To ensure operational efficiency, complaints with similar allegations relating to the same issue or broadcast material are handled together
and counted as a single case.

*The increase in the number of complaints processed in 2019/20 was mainly attributed to three complaint cases concerning recent social
events which gave rise to a total of over 17 000 complaints in 2019/20.
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Active Preparations for the 5G Era

Making 5G Spectrum Available in Multiple
Frequency Bands for the Launch of 5G Services

The adoption of 5G technology will revolutionise mobile
users’ experience with 5G’s cutting-edge technical
capabilities for high speed, high capacity, high reliability,
massive connectivity and low latency communications.
It is widely expected that 5G will open up vast potential
for various commercial and smart city applications.

To enable the commercial launch of 5G services, a
total of about 4 500 MHz of spectrum has been made
available to the market in 2019, including 4 100 MHz
of spectrum in the 26 GHz and 28 GHz bands for
administrative assignment and 380 MHz of spectrum in
the 3.3 GHz, 3.5 GHz and 4.9 GHz bands for assignment
by way of auction.

Successtu/ Conclusion of the Auction of the 5G
Spectrum mn the 3.3 GHz Bana 3.5 GHz Band and
4.9 GHz Band

OFCA conducted three auctions for the 3.3 GHz, 3.5
GHz and 4.9 GHz bands in succession from October
to November 2019, starting with the auction of 200
MHz of spectrum in the 3.5 GHz band, followed by the
auction of 80 MHz of spectrum in the 4.9 GHz band and
then the auction of 100 MHz of spectrum in the 3.3 GHz
band.

All of the 380 MHz of spectrum was successfully
auctioned off to the four incumbent MNOs at a total
spectrum utilisation fee (SUF) of HK$1.9 billion, i.e.
HK$1 billion for the 3.5 GHz band, HK$240 million for
the 4.9 GHz band and HK$665 million for the 3.3 GHz
band. The spectrum concerned has been assigned to
the successful bidders for a period of 15 years.
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Administrative Assjignment of the Spectrum in the
26 GHz and 28 GHz Bands

In view of the ample supply of spectrum in the 26
GHz and 28 GHz bands, the CA has adopted an
administrative approach for assignment of spectrum in
the bands. Among the 4 100 MHz of spectrum available,
3 700 MHz of spectrum has been set aside as non-
shared spectrum for the provision of large scale public
mobile services including 5G services. In April 2019,
three incumbent MNOs were each assigned 400 MHz
of the non-shared spectrum as per their applications.
OFCA will provide support to the CA to launch a second
round of invitation for applications for 26 GHz and 28
GHz bands non-shared spectrum assignment around
the end of 2020.

In addition, 400 MHz of spectrum in the 26 GHz
and 28 GHz bands is set aside for assignment on a
geographically shared basis to entities other than
assignees of the non-shared spectrum for the provision
of LWBS in specified locations such as university
campuses, industrial estates, the airport and technology
parks. Licence application for assignment of up to 400
MHz of the shared spectrum for the provision of LWBS
was open from July 2019. In October 2019, OFCA
supported the CA in granting the first LWBS Licence to
the Airport Authority for the development of the smart
airport initiative at the Hong Kong International Airport.
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Mafking Avarlable Additiona/ New 5G Spectrum to
Meet the Demand of Operators

OFCA has been continuing its efforts to identify and make
available other suitable spectrum for the development
of 5G and other innovative services. Apart from the
availability of an additional 80 MHz of spectrum in the 4.9
GHz band, the CA will also make available a total of 140
MHz of spectrum in the 600 MHz and 700 MHz bands,
which will be vacated after ASO on 30 November 2020,
for the provision of public mobile services (including 5G
services). In this connection, OFCA provided support
to the CA and Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development (SCED) for joint public consultations
launched in July and August 2020 respectively to seek
the views of the industry and other interested parties
on the arrangements for frequency allocation and
assignment for the spectrum in the 4.9 GHz band and
600 MHz and 700 MHz bands as well as the related SUF.
The decisions on spectrum assignment arrangements
will be promulgated in 2021 after taking into account
feedback received in the public consultations.

Facilitating the Rollout of 5G Networks

For the deployment of 5G services in Hong Kong,
MNOs will need to establish a larger number of radio
base stations as compared with previous generations
of mobile services. To facilitate the expedient and
effective rollout of 5G networks, OFCA launched a pilot
scheme in March 2019 to open up more than 1 000
suitable government premises for MNOs to install radio
base stations with a streamlined approval process.
OFCA has set up a dedicated team to coordinate
with MNOs and relevant government departments
on the matters concerned, and issued the “"Guidance
Notes for Submission of Applications under the Pilot
Scheme for Installation of Radio Base Stations at
Selected Government Venues” to set out the principles,
requirements and streamlined procedures in respect
of the applications under the scheme. As at September

2020, 126 applications were received under the scheme

and 25 were approved. As a further policy initiative to
facilitate 5G network rollout under the Policy Address
2019, OFCA will assist operators under a “"demand-led”
model to identify and gain access to additional suitable
government premises for installation of radio base
stations.

OFCA has also been coordinating with the relevant
government departments to facilitate MNOs' access
to suitable street furniture and public facilities such as
public payphone kiosks and sheltered bus stops for the
installation of radio base stations. In April 2020, we issued
the “Guidelines on the Use of Public Payphone Kiosks
for the Installation of Radio Base Stations for Provision of
Public Mobile Services” to facilitate the industry’s use of
the public payphone kiosks for installation of radio base
stations. OFCA will continue the relevant work, including
facilitating operators to conduct technical trials and
formulating relevant guidance on application procedures
and requirements for use of sheltered bus stops to install
radio base stations.

In order to ensure efficient operation of 5G networks in
the 3.3 GHz and 3.5 GHz bands, having consulted all
MNOs, OFCA provided technical support to the CA in
issue of the “Guidelines for Setting the Frame Structure
of Mobile Networks Operating in Time-Division-Duplex
Mode in the 3.3 - 3.6 GHz Band” in April 2020. OFCA will
continue to provide technical guidance to the industry
as necessary to facilitate effective implementation of 5G
networks in Hong Kong.

Facilitating the Industry to Conduct Trials for
5G Technologies and Applications

To better prepare for the launch of 5G services, as of
31 March 2020, OFCA had considered applications
from the industry and issued a total of 57 trial permits to
MNOs and equipment vendors with temporary, free-of-
charge spectrum assignment for test purposes.
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Solving of Restriction Zones Issues

£nabling Controlled Deployrment of Spectrum /n
the 3.5 GHz Band within the Restriction Zones /n
the Short Run

Since the 3.4 - 3.6 GHz (3.5 GHz) band will be re-
allocated from fixed satellite service to mobile service
with effect on 1 April 2020, the CA has delineated two
restriction zones in Tai Po and Stanley to enable the
coexistence of the existing earth stations for telemetry,
tracking and control of the licensed satellites in orbit
(TT&C stations) and systems of public mobile services
operating in the same and adjacent bands.

In tandem, to address the concern raised by the mobile
industry on the restriction zones, OFCA established a
working group in June 2018 comprising stakeholders
including representatives of MNOs, operators of the
TT&C stations, Hong Kong Science and Technology
Park and Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology
Research Institute to study technical arrangements for
enabling controlled deployment of radio base stations
operating in the 3.5 GHz band within the restriction
zones without causing interference to the existing TT&C
stations. After various studies of the working group,
the CA approved its report and accordingly issued
the guidelines entitled “Guidelines for Installation of
Radio Base Stations Operating in the 3.4 - 3.6 GHz
Band within the Restriction Zones Delineated by the
Communications Authority” in July 2019. Relevant
requirements have been incorporated in the respective
licences issued to the successful bidders of the 3.5 GHz
spectrum, such that MNOs can deploy 3.5 GHz radio
base stations within the restriction zones in a controlled
manner.

Facilitating the Removal of the 5G Restriction Zone
/n 737 Po

To resolve the issue of restriction zone in Tai Po in the
long run, OFCA has been discussing with the concerned
satellite operators the relocation of their satellite earth
stations operating at the 3.5 GHz band from Tai Po to
the Chung Hom Kok Teleport, so that MNOs can make

wider use of all the available 5G bands (including the
3.5 GHz band) in Hong Kong for the provision of 5G
services. Relocation of the satellite earth stations involves

complex land and technical issues, including site
selection, land grants, site formation, construction works
and establishment of another set of satellite antennae,
as well as the need to ensure that operation of the
existing satellites in orbit will not be affected. OFCA is
working with the relevant bureaux and departments to
facilitate the relocation of the concerned satellite earth
station facilities, which is expected to take several years
to complete.

Implementing the Subsidy Scheme for
Upgrading Satellite Master Antenna Television
Systems

Also arising from the re-allocation of the 3.4 - 3.7 GHz
band from fixed satellite service to mobile service
from 1 April 2020 for the provision of 5G services, all
SMATV systems installed in buildings for receiving
and distributing satellite TV signals to serve occupants
should only operate in the 3.7 - 4.2 GHz band from
then on. The existing SMATV systems should also have
technical upgrades implemented in order to co-exist
with 5G systems operating in the adjacent 3.4 - 3.6 GHz
band after 1 April 2020.

The CA is mindful of the costs required for upgrading
the existing SMATV systems which serve the general
public and has implemented a subsidy scheme which
runs from 27 November 2019 to 26 November 2020
to support the concerned system upgrades. Under
the scheme, some 1 600 SMATV systems covered by
existing licences on or before 28 March 2018 would be
eligible to apply for a one-off subsidy of HK$20,000 per
SMATV system. The scheme is collectively funded by
all successful spectrum assignees of the 3.4 - 3.6 GHz
band, i.e. the four MNOs, while OFCA administers the
subsidy scheme on their behalf.
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Facilitating Development of Wireless
Internet of Things Services and
Localised Wireless Broadband
Services

Since the creation of a new licensing regime for the
provision of Wireless Internet of Things (WloT) platforms
and services using the shared frequency band of 920 - 925
MHz by the CA in December 2017, three WIoT licences
have been issued. In addition, the existing MNOs may
also make use of the frequency spectrum assigned
to them under the Unified Carrier Licence to provide
WIoT services by adopting mobile technologies such
as Narrowband loT and 5G technologies that enable
massive loT connections. OFCA will continue to support
the CA to facilitate the development and competitive
supply of WIoT services in Hong Kong.

The LWBS Licence was created in July 2019 to enable
the use of 400 MHz of spectrum in the frequency
range of 27.95 - 28.35 GHz on a geographically
shared basis for the provision of innovative wireless
broadband services. Following the issue of the first
LWBS Licence in October 2019, OFCA provided
support to the CA to process new LWBS licence
applications so as to facilitate the development of
innovative 5G and smart city applications at different
locations, such as university campuses, industrial
estates and technology parks.

Implementation of the Re-assignment
of Frequency Spectrum in the 900
MHz and 1800 MHz Bands

The current assignments of 50 MHz of spectrum in the
900 MHz band and 150 MHz of spectrum in the 1800
MHz band will expire in January and September 2021
respectively. While 20 MHz of spectrum in the 1800
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MHz band will be re-assigned administratively to each
of the four incumbent MNOs, the remaining 120 MHz
of spectrum (comprising 50 MHz of spectrum in the 900
MHz band and 70 MHz of spectrum in the 1800 MHz
band) will be re-assigned to the four operators pursuant
to the results of the auction in December 2018, resulting
in some of the frequency assignments in the two bands
changing hands upon commencement of the new 15-year
term of assignments.

OFCA convened a technical working group in May
2019 comprising representatives of all four MNOs
to coordinate the relevant technical arrangements
to reconfigure their existing networks and/or roll out
additional network infrastructures. OFCA will continue
the work to ensure a seamless change over at the time
of re-assignment of the spectrum in the 900 MHz band
and 1800 MHz band in January and September 2021
respectively.

Preparing Proposals for Re-assignment
of Frequency Spectrum in the 850
MHz and 2.5/2.6 GHz Bands

The current assignments of 15 MHz of spectrum
in the 850 MHz band and 90 MHz of spectrum in
the 2.5/2.6 GHz bands will expire in November
2023 and March 2024 respectively. OFCA provided
support to the CA and SCED for the joint public
consultations launched in August and September
2020 respectively to seek the views of the industry
and other interested parties on the arrangements for
re-assignment of the spectrum concerned upon the
expiry of the existing assignments and the related
SUF. The decisions on spectrum re-assignment
arrangements will be promulgated in 2021 after
taking into account feedback received in the public
consultations.
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Review of the Telecommunications
Regulatory Framework by the
Government

In 2019720, OFCA provided support for CEDB in the review
of the telecommunications regulatory framework under
the Telecommunications Ordinance (TO) with a view to
embracing the developments of 5G and Internet of Things
technologies and facilitating the trade. OFCA will continue
to provide necessary support to the CA in relation to the
review of the telecommunications regulatory framework
conducted by CEDB and any future legislative amendments
to the TO. In parallel, OFCA will also introduce various
streamlined administrative measures with the aim of further
facilitating the operation of the industry.

Implementation of the Registration
System for Class Licence for Offer of
Telecommunications Services

CLQOTS regulates persons who offer telecommunications
services to the general public without the establishment
of any means of telecommunications. OFCA assisted
the CA to complete a review of the licensing regime of
the CLOTS in April 2019 for better consumer protection.
Under the revised regime, licensees with a customer
base of 10 000 subscriptions or more are required to
register their business information with the CA. OFCA
issued a set of guidelines in August 2019 to facilitate
CLQTS licensees to make registration. As of September
2020, 20 CLOTS licensees had been registered.
OFCA will continue to assist the CA to ensure smooth
operation of the registration system.

Enhancement of Licensing Regime
for Services-based Operators

OFCA supported the CA to enhance the Services-based
Operators (SBO) licensing regime through extending
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the period of validity of the SBO Licence from one
year to two years to enhance regulatory certainty,
streamlining the categories of services authorised
under the SBO Licence, and adopting a new licence
fee structure to ensure regulatory symmetry between
the SBO Licence and other licences. The above
enhancements have taken effect from August 2020.

Review of the Number of Public
Payphones under the Universal
Service Obligation

Public payphone service is a form of basic telephone
service which the universal service provider (USP) is
required to provide under its universal service obligation
(USO). The cost of providing a public payphone service
subject to the USO is shared by the fixed and mobile
services operators. In view of the diminishing demand
for public payphone service in recent years, OFCA
supported the CA to kick off a review of the reasonable
number of public payphones that should be subject to
the USO in June 2017.

The review was completed in 2019. For in-building type
public payphones, the CA decided to exclude 515 in-
building type public payphones (about 35% of the
total number of in-building type public payphones)
from the USO. All the excluded in-building type public
payphones have been removed by the USP. For kiosk
type public payphones, the CA decided to exclude
765 kiosk type public payphones (about 50% of the
total number of kiosk type public payphones) from the
USO. The USP has started to remove the excluded kiosk
type public payphones from the relevant locations, with
about 23% of them dismantled as of March 2020.

Chapter 3 | Meeting the New Challenges of the Telecommunications Market @

............




30 3% 58 L i 15 3 Bk

Meetlng the New Challenges of the
Telecommunications Market

BietERAEHAZEREDELF EBY B A ESERFEAYEE R

&t &l MEEEEHBRABLES EETRANIANT

BEREANREEE BB REHE DU EEBLRASERMIEMNEERY - BE202053

EEEE  SHEAERERRAAEAEONEAREY A BENES0NETREEEREERS A SRR

B AT AR E BB BT TR - £04% B A BB HEE THESVI0E LS « kK
82000 B BB P 18 P ST 1000 L AS S L 0

GO BIRER R RS B B AN R -

AREASREEEXEIRE  HERTEAERRSE

IR RE RS0 AT W BLIEARES -

AP Z235 R BN A S AN ERIZE B ETRE - Wi
2019511 A £202055 A BB M B E R L Bt e
HE  BENERE BRI SRR ZTRHANT
NOME > UARER=FEENHEE  DREEEEERE
BYB  RELZERMNRARBILZEIEN - BSIATERS
BEENEREHEERMESHERNAERE  UREE
HBEEZD—HNBETFTHMOERLEWEREFER o

B ERYEREBENERERE - WEREEOBA
EBPIHEE - B EENE R ENE RS ERT UK - SOET
fEB% - HRAMAKRNEZRSEAMERSTRE - EK
RSN F D RhR 2R o

RIEBUN A EIFESNR2019F 3B B HMNIRE - BBER
ERAHEEPRERENBERE R ReAEKCEEATD
BB o

MBREERRETHEERE
EBAPFTIRENGEEBARBNHET - WEFNES

RN ESREERSENMER L RSKEEREERZIF
W5 EITE20205F £20235F R AR o AKit8EEHUItra
Express Link (ERZ/)NFEE) AIEE2019F128 R AR
% o BRI EE R EREREEEEERR TR EE
BERBERMENEETA °

D 2=z | uzTATEERE




Implementation of the Subsidy
Scheme to Extend Fibre-based
Networks to Villages in Remote Areas

In support of the Government’s policy initiative to
provide financial incentives to telecommunications
operators for encouraging the extension of fibre-based
networks to remote villages, OFCA has implemented
a subsidy scheme with a funding of HK$770 million
approved by the Finance Committee of the LegCo.

The Subsidy Scheme covers 235 villages across nine
districts in the New Territories and outlying islands,
which are located far away from the existing fibre-based
backbone networks of fixed network operators, where
villagers can only choose broadband services delivered
over copper-based networks at a speed of 10 Mbps or
below.

The 235 villages were grouped under six projects for
tendering purpose, and all projects were awarded to
selected fixed network operators between November
2019 and May 2020 through tendering exercises. The
selected fixed network operators will roll out fibre-based
lead-in connections to the vicinity of the entrances of
the villages concerned, and three submarine fibre-
based cables connecting Lamma Island from Hong
Kong Island, Cheung Chau from Lantau Island, and
Peng Chau from Lantau Island respectively. To introduce
competition, selected fixed network operators have
to open up at least half of the capacity of the network
facilities and submarine fibre-based cables subsidised
under the scheme for use by other fixed network
operators for free.

OFCA is closely monitoring the implementation
progress of the Subsidy Scheme and coordinate with
the government departments concerned on matters
relating to applications for permits and approvals for
excavation works as well as the roll-out of fibre-based
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networks and submarine fibre-based cables by the
selected fixed network operators. The newly-built
fibre-based networks will be extended to the villages
concerned in phases from 2021 onwards.

Development of Fixed Broadband
Services

With the continuous network rollout of fixed network
operators, the Hong Kong community is able to enjoy
nearly ubiquitous coverage of broadband networks
deploying various technologies. As of March 2020, there
were around 2.80 million residential and commercial
fixed-broadband subscriptions, with a household
penetration rate of 94%. Broadband services are now
available at speeds of up to 10 Gbps. Around 82% of
the fixed broadband subscriptions are supported by
broadband services with speeds of 100 Mbps or above.

According to a report issued by the Fibre to the
Home Council Europe in March 2019, Hong Kong
was ranked sixth worldwide in fibre to home/building
household penetration among the 64 economies under
comparison.

Landing of New Submarine Cable
Systems in Hong Kong

With the support of OFCA's single-point-of-contact
service, nine new regional and transcontinental
submarine cable systems, as well as two domestic
systems are being constructed and planned for putting
into service between 2020 and 2023. In December
2019, the domestic submarine cable Ultra Express
Link (between Tseung Kwan O and Siu Sai Wan) was
put into service. OFCA will continue to assist operators
in applying for the necessary statutory approvals for
construction and landing of new submarine cable
systems in Hong Kong.
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Facilitating the Disposal of Land Lots in
Chung Hom Kok Teleport for Construction
of External Telecommunications Facilities

In order to reinforce Hong Kong's role as a regional
telecommunications hub as well as to meet the
growing demand for external telecommunications
infrastructure in Hong Kong, we will provide suitable
land lots in the Chung Hom Kok Teleport for external
telecommunications infrastructure, with a view to
further enhancing the overall capacity and diversity
of Hong Kong’s external telecommunications
networks.

Preparatory work for tendering of the relevant land lots
in the Chung Hom Kok Teleport has commenced. OFCA
is working with the relevant bureaux and departments to
make the relevant land lots available for the construction
of external telecommunications facilities in the coming
few years.

Development of Hong Kong's Satellite
Networks

Satellite spectrum and orbital positions are scarce
natural resources. Use of these resources by
communications satellites registered in Hong Kong
should also comply with the coordination and
notification requirements of the ITU. In this regard,
OFCA supports the licensed satellite operators of
Hong Kong to attend satellite network coordination
meetings with foreign administrations from time to
time, and assists in the processing of licences for the
launching and operation of satellites in space orbits.
Following the de-orbit of one satellite in 2019, there are
now 11 satellites in orbit operated by two Hong Kong
companies licensed to provide satellite communications

services.
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Setting and Enforcing Telecommunications
Standards

OFCA closely monitors international developments in
telecommunications standardisation and updates local
technical standards in order to meet the needs of the
industry and the public. In 2019/20, four new technical
standards covering 5G base station and user equipment
and one revised technical standard covering medical
implant communication system devices were approved
and issued by the CA after consulting the Radio
Spectrum and Technical Standards Advisory Committee.

Qualified local and overseas testing laboratories
are now providing testing and certification services
for various kinds of telecommunications equipment
against technical standards prescribed by the CA. In
particular, local laboratories accredited by the CA as
local certification bodies (LCBs) can offer a full range of
telecommunications equipment testing and certification
services. In 2019/20, LCBs and foreign certification
bodies issued 442 equipment certificates to meet the
needs of the telecommunications equipment market.

To ensure that all LCBs providing telecommunications
equipment testing and certification services meet the
service quality and performance standards required
by OFCA, OFCA will continue to closely monitor their
performance by conducting documentary checks, plant
visits and reviews on a regular basis. So far, all LCBs have
been performing up to the requirements set by OFCA.
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Handling of and Investigations into
Competition Complaints in the
Telecommunications and Broadcasting
Sectors, and Merger & Acquisition
Cases in the Telecommunications Sector

The Competition Ordinance (CO) provides for a
cross-sectoral competition law prohibiting anti-
competitive conduct in all sectors. Under the CO,
the CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with
the Competition Commission to enforce the CO in
respect of the conduct of undertakings operating in
the telecommunications and broadcasting sectors,
including merger and acquisition activities involving
carrier licensees in the telecommunications sector.

Pursuant to the memorandum of understanding signed
by the CA and the Competition Commission, the CA will
ordinarily assume the role of the lead authority for matters
falling within the concurrent jurisdiction. For matters
involving issues that are partly within and partly outside
the concurrent jurisdiction, the CA and the Competition
Commission will discuss and agree on how best to
process the matter on a case-by-case basis.

From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, a total of 23
complaints and enquiries were received under the
CO, with 22 cases closed without the need for further
actions and one case under processing.

During the year, OFCA also assisted the CA in
reviewing one transaction under the merger rule of the
CO, and no further action was considered necessary in
respect of the transactions.

Handling of and Investigations
into Complaints about Unfair Trade
Practices in the Telecommunications
and Broadcasting Sectors

The fair trading sections of the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (TDO) prohibit certain specified unfair trade
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practices by traders in the provision of goods and

services to consumers.

The CA is conferred concurrent jurisdiction with the
Customs and Excise Department to enforce the fair trading
sections of the TDO in relation to the commercial practices
of licensees under the TO and the BO directly connected
with the provision of telecommunications and broadcasting
services. The two enforcement agencies have entered
into a memorandum of understanding to coordinate
the performance of their functions under the fair trading
sections of the TDO and have issued a set of enforcement
guidelines to provide guidance for traders and consumers
regarding the operation of the fair trading sections.

From 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020, OFCA handled
a total of 288 complaints under the TDO. Of these
cases, 243 were closed due to insufficient evidence to
establish a contravention, or because they fell outside
the scope of the TDO; 18 cases were closed after the
CA issued advisory letters to the licensees concerned
to bring the subject matter to their attention and advise
them of the need to improve their relevant commercial
practices in relation to the sale, supply or promotion
of telecommunications or broadcasting services to
consumers; and the remaining 27 cases were under
processing at various stages.

Enforcement of the Unsolicited
Electronic Messages Ordinance

Do-Not-Call Registers

The CA has established three Do-Not-Call (DNC)

Registers, for facsimile messages, short messages
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and pre-recorded telephone messages respectively,
under the Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance
(UEMO). Commercial electronic messages (CEMs)
must not be sent to registered telephone numbers
unless the senders have obtained consents from the
registered users. By March 2020, more than 2.6 million
telephone numbers were registered with these three
DNC Registers. Apart from not sending CEMs to the
registered telephone numbers on the DNC Registers,
senders of CEMs are also required under the UEMO to
comply with a number of rules. For example, they must
provide the recipients with their contact information
and an “unsubscribe facility” in their CEMs so that the
recipients can approach the senders concerned and
unsubscribe from receiving their CEMs.

In 2019/20, OFCA received 598 reports in relation to
suspected contraventions of the UEMO, a reduction
of about 6% from the previous year. A majority of
these 598 reports were related to short messages
and email messages. OFCA will continue to monitor
the compliance situation on various messages and
platforms and streamline the procedures for more
effective enforcement.

Enforcement

If the number of reports received against a sender is
below a certain threshold, OFCA will issue an advisory
letter reminding the sender to observe the requirements
under the UEMO. If the number of reports received
against a sender exceeds the threshold, or if OFCA
continues to receive reports against the same sender
after the issuance of an advisory letter, OFCA will conduct
a formal investigation and may issue a warning letter to
that sender. In 2019/20, a total of 63 advisory letters and
30 warning letters were issued.

In the event of repeated contraventions by the senders of
CEMs, the CA may issue enforcement notices in accordance
with section 38 of the UEMO directing the senders to take
steps to remedy the contraventions. Anyone who fails to
comply with an enforcement notice may be liable to a
fine of up to HK$100,000 on the first conviction.

Continued Efforts to Strengthen
Consumer Protection in the Use of
Telecommunications Services

Self-regulatory Measures Voluntarily
Implemented by the Industry

In order to safeguard consumer interests in the use of
telecommunications services, OFCA takes proactive
actions to implement various consumer protection
measures and works with the industry to draw up and
implement self-regulatory measures to address new
consumer issues that may arise from time to time.

These measures include the voluntary Customer
Complaint Settlement Scheme (CCSS) administered
by the Communications Association of Hong Kong, an
industry association. The CCSS aims to help resolve billing
disputes in deadlocks between telecommunications service
providers and their customers by means of mediation.

Other self-regulatory measures voluntarily implemented
by the industry include the promulgation of the Code
of Practice for Telecommunications Service Contracts to
improve the clarity of provisions in the telecommunications
service contracts, as well as the Code for the Provision
of Chargeable Mobile Content Services to govern the
practices of third-party content service providers.

Some other examples include the implementation
of mobile bill shock preventive measures,
promulgation of a set of mandatory guidelines
governing the implementation of fair usage
policy by telecommunications service providers,
as well as publication on OFCA's website details
of the arrangements adopted by major residential
broadband service providers to handle service
termination requests from consumers.

OFCA will continue to monitor the implementation
and effectiveness of the various consumer protection
measures adopted and where necessary engage the
industry to seek further improvement of the existing
measures or to introduce new measures.
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OFCA actively organises consumer education campaign every year to enhance public knowledge about smart use of

communications services.
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Enhancement of the Broadband Performance
Test System

Since December 2010, OFCA has been providing
a broadband performance test system to enable
broadband service users to measure the performance
of their broadband connections, including download
and upload speeds, network latency, packet loss
and jitter. Apart from users of desktop and notebook
computers, users of smart phones and tablets running
iOS and Android operating systems may also make use
of the test system.

From time to time, OFCA reviews and upgrades
the test system to further enhance its capability
and performance. Currently, it offers desktop and
notebook computer users and users of iOS-based
and Android-based mobile devices speed tests of up
to 5 000 Mbps and 1 000 Mbps respectively. From
service launch to March 2020, more than 95 million

tests were performed with the use of the system.

Consumer Education Programmes

OFCA continued to organise the annual Consumer
Education Campaign from August 2019 to March
2020 to enhance public awareness of smart use of
communications services. A range of programmes and

activities, including public seminars, community talks,
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mini exhibitions and drama performances at schools
were held during the campaign to promote proper and
safe use of communications services. In addition, a series
of large-scale roving exhibitions were held at popular
public venues and shopping malls to relay to the
public useful consumer messages through informative
exhibition panels and fun games and activities. OFCA
also publicised the messages through the Facebook fan
page “Communications Master « OFCA".

To embrace the advent of the 5G era, OFCA set up a
thematic website and produced two short videos to
enhance public understanding of how the technology
would transform our means of communications, its
innovative applications and OFCA's efforts to facilitate the
launch of 5G services in Hong Kong. Another set of TV
and radio announcements in the public interest on 5G
with the slogan “Embrace the New 5G Era. The Future is
Today.” was produced. This signified the official launch
of 5G services in Hong Kong on 1 April 2020 and served
to further promote the profound business opportunities
and various social benefits that would be brought by 5G.
Furthermore, in order to enhance the public's knowledge
of radiation safety of radio base stations which are
prerequisite to the establishment of 5G networks, a new
set of TV and radio announcements in the public interest
was launched in early June 2020 with the slogan “Radio
Base Stations Comply with the Safety Standards. Ensure
Effective Support for 5G Networks.".

BARSFHRCREGEEVEHNZR2EN T —EAFEREREETREESFAMESRECEFREAEERET -
During the year, OFCA set up a thematic website and produced two short videos as well as two sets of TV and radio announcements
in the public interest on 5G and radiation safety of radio base stations.
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OFCA puts a strong emphasis on engaging the
community and maintains close ties with international
organisations through regular exchange of views
and experience on industry development and
regulatory matters.

Participation in International and
Regional Conferences

OFCA actively participates in the activities of, and
maintains close contact with, a number of international
and regional organisations, either as part of the
Chinese delegation or as an individual member of

those relevant organisations.

In 2019/20, OFCA attended a total of 10 conferences
and meetings hosted by international and regional
organisations, including the ITU, Asia Pacific
Telecommunity (APT), International Institute of
Communications (IIC) and Unsolicited Communications
Enforcement Network. The more notable events of
the year included the ITU World Radiocommunication
Conference, the IIC International Regulators Forum
and the APT Asia-Pacific ICT Ministerial Meeting.
OFCA will continue to participate in the activities of
the international and regional organisations with the
aim of exchanging views on the international best
practice in regulating the communications sector
for the next generation, as well as promoting Hong
Kong's achievement as the pre-eminent hub for
telecommunications and information infrastructures in
the Asia-Pacific region.
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Exchanges with the Mainland and
Overseas Authorities

OFCA regularly exchanges views and experience on

regulatory matters with its counterparts.

In 2019/20, OFCA received four delegations from the
Mainland and overseas, and exchanged views and
experiences with them on various issues relating to
communications services. They included a delegation
from the Body of European Regulators for Electronic
Communications, a delegation from the Department of
Industry and Information Technology of Hainan Province,
a delegation from the Development Research Centre of
the State Council and the Director-General of the National

Broadcasting of the Republic of North Macedonia.

During the year, OFCA attended meetings in Beijing
with the Bureau of Radio Regulation of the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology and the National
Radio and Television Administration. OFCA also had
annual bilateral meetings in Guangdong and Macao
with the Guangdong Communications Administration
and the Macao Post and Telecommunications Bureau
respectively.

Media and Community Relations

OFCA proactively keeps the public and the media
informed of its work. In 2019/20, OFCA issued 24
press releases on the CA's major decisions in relation
to broadcasting and telecommunications regulatory
issues and OFCA's major initiatives, operations and
events. Speeches and presentations made by the
Director-General of Communications at public events
and industry conferences were also published on
our website. These measures help disseminate our
messages to both the industry and the public, and
enable them to gain a better understanding of our work.
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Working with the Community and
International Organisations
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OFCA gave a talk on “Facilitating the Development of 5G
Mobile Services in Hong Kong” at the “Science in the Public
Service” Lecture Series.
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Public Education and Communications

In 2019/20, OFCA gave seven talks on broadcasting
services in Hong Kong to local students of six primary
schools and one special school, and two talks to
the participants of the Community Involvement
Broadcasting Service (CIBS). Primary and secondary
students were introduced to the different categories of
television programme services in Hong Kong and how
audiences could make informed viewing choices. The
participants of CIBS were briefed on the programme
standards of sound broadcasting services.

Participation in Communications
Activities

OFCA continued to participate in the annual
“Science in the Public Service” Lecture Series jointly
organised by the Hong Kong Observatory and
over 50 government bureaux and departments
and public bodies. To introduce how 5G services
would change our lives and the preparatory work
done by the CA to facilitate the development of
5G services in Hong Kong, OFCA delivered a talk
titled “Facilitating the Development of 5G Mobile
Services in Hong Kong” on 21 July 2019 at the
Hong Kong Science Museum.

The Work of Advisory Committees

Three advisory committees under OFCA have been
established to provide a regular and formal channel for
various parties to advise OFCA on telecommunications
regulatory measures and policies.
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Telecommunications Advisory Committees

Three advisory committees, namely the
Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs
Advisory Committee, the Radio Spectrum and
Technical Standards Advisory Committee, and
the Telecommunications Users and Consumers
Advisory Committee, were established under
OFCA in June 2012. These committees provide
a regular and formal channel for the industry,
telecommunications service users and interested
parties to advise OFCA on the formulation and
implementation of various telecommunications
regulatory measures and policies.

Members of the advisory committees are drawn
from different sectors of the telecommunications
industry, relevant government departments and
non-governmental organisations as well as the
general public. This helps provide a balanced
representation of views on issues that are at
times highly technical and complex. The term of
appointment is two years.

The membership lists of the three advisory
committees as of 31 March 2020 can be found in
Appendix B.

Television and Radio Consultative Scheme

The role of the Television and Radio Consultative
Scheme is to provide qualitative input on television
and radio programming to the CA's public
consultation process. Members are drawn from all 18
districts of the territory.
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Committed to Human Resource Excellence
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OFCA regularly organises a variety of staff activities to advocate the importance of work-life balance and strengthen the sense of belonging

among colleagues.
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An Energetic and Versatile Workforce

To provide professional support to the CA in the regulation
of the fast-changing and dynamic communications industry,
OFCA has all along adopted a proactive, forward-looking
and holistic approach to human resource management and
strategic manpower planning. Organisational reviews are
conducted from time to time to ensure the most effective
and efficient deployment of manpower resources.

OFCA had an energetic and versatile workforce of 474
staff as of 31 March 2020, comprising 324 civil servants,
143 staff employed on non-civil service contract terms,
and seven staff employed on post-retirement service
contract terms.

Training and Development

OFCA attaches great importance to the training and
development of staff members, and strives to enhance
their professional knowledge and competencies
to cope with the challenges posed by the rapidly
evolving industry environment, such as emerging new
technologies, increasing public demands and internal
driving forces arising from various initiatives.

A Training and Development Committee has been
established to oversee the implementation of OFCA's
training and development policies for departmental
officers in order to take a holistic view on the training
needs of staff and to strengthen arrangements for
grooming officers with potentials.

A variety of professional and managerial development
courses and in-house training programmes were organised
in 2019/20. These included courses on competition law,
law enforcement, technical training, prosecution and
investigation skills, information and communications
technology, management and leadership, performance
management, languages, financial management,
communications, complaint handling, integrity
management, occupational safety, emotional and physical
wellness, records management and national studies. OFCA

continued to sponsor staff members on courses organised
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by international organisations and overseas institutions, such
as those provided by King's College London, to enhance
their technical and professional skills. The trainee count for
the year was 651 and the training man-day count was 628.

OFCA has been accredited as a Manpower Developer
by the “Employee Retraining Board” for our outstanding
achievements in manpower training and development
since 2016.

Awards and Commendations

In 2019/20, two OFCA staff members received the
Secretary for the Civil Service Commendation Award, five
received the Director-General's Commendation for Long
and Valuable Service, 21 received the Director-General's
Commendation for Meritorious Service, 10 received the
Long and Meritorious Service Award and five received the
Long and Meritorious Service Travel Award.

Recreational Activities and Volunteer Services

OFCA regularly organises a variety of staff activities
to advocate the importance of work-life balance and
strengthen the sense of belonging among colleagues.

To help staff members develop a healthy lifestyle and to
foster a greater sense of teamwork with their co-workers,
OFCA regularly organises staff recreational activities,
including outings, luncheon talks and sports activities. To
show care for the community, OFCA regularly participates
in a number of volunteering and charity events. OFCA
has been awarded the “Caring Organisation” logo by
the Hong Kong Council of Social Service every year since
2007 and the “Social Capital Builder Logo Award" by the
Community Investment and Inclusion Fund of the Labour
and Welfare Bureau since 2016.

&
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Financial Results 2019/20

1. 2019/20 was a challenging year for the OFCA Trading
Fund. This year, the OFCA Trading Fund turned to a loss of
$37.2 million from a profit of $30.8 million in 2018/19, after
having taken into account the expenses paid on settlement
of restitution claims. For the rate of return on average net
fixed assets ("ANFA"), it dropped to -10.0%* from -0.8%
last year, which was primarily the result of a decrease
in revenue, partly offset by a decrease in operating
expenditure.

2. 2FEHWABA762EE T BREAFM4.997 2. The total revenue at HK$476.2 million was lower than the
2 , EEE A2 5 amount of HK$499.7 million last year due to decrease in
BEIRE REARKREERBRENIEES y
BEERFIS MW IED o revenue from licence fees as well as interest income from

the placement with the Exchange Fund.

3. EXHAME 2019 20FEATH EFH9.5% 3. Onthe expenditure side, the total expenditure rose by 9.5%
E5134EBT  TESHRE TR - to HK$513.4 million in 2019/20 mainly due to increase in
U 5 AR I 5 AR 8 1 FR R B R = o staff costs and incurrence of expenses on settlement of

restitution claims.

4. RERR > BHASCHRBBEARKEHEL 4. Looking ahead, with the launch of 5G mobile communications
EHT S  RE BB LA EE At services, in the short term we are optimistic that the
K W BT R SE o B communications sector in Hong Kong will enter a new era

T =< poAY =] o8
and remain vibrant and dynamic. With a dedicated and
RERBNEXER  EREMRFNERE

m ’ professional team in OFCA, we are well placed to face the

e - challenges in the coming year.
*EEEETYFERBRRULZEANRERUEEEETITF * The return on ANFA is calculated as total comprehensive income divided by
EFENESE - AUGHEEEE T ZERRNA2E average net fixed assets and expressed as a percentage. Total comprehensive
WHEFHRE > FEEFSRA - EXHMAHREER income for calculating return on ANFA has been adjusted by excluding
RENHARMZMAHEXL o the interest income, interest expenses and expenses paid on settlement of

restitution claims.
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Financial Results 2019/20

Highlights of the financial performance :

WA

X

(B1]R) B
BEEEFHIFERDR

I\ Revenue

JE B8 E Licence fees

85.5% (85.4%)

% i Expenditure

76.2% (80.2%)

* EFMR2018 MIFERT
In parentheses are 2018/19 figures

2019/20 2018/19

BHEHET BEBTT

HKS$'m HK$'m

Revenue 476.2 499.7
Expenditure 513.4 468.9
(Loss) / Profit (37.2) 30.8
Return on ANFA -10.0% -0.8%

BR# & Service charges

7.5% (6.7%)

FIEUXA Interestincome

6.1% (6.4%)

%18 Miscellaneous

0.9% (1.5%)

&8 Operation

11.1% (17.2%)

) rE R #85 Depreciation & amortisation
2.4% (2.2%)

) [ Consultancy
0.1% (0.4%)

R FIRIE IR E B R M Y HIFRIE
Amount paid on settlement of
restitution claims

10.2% (0.0%)
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Report of the Director of Audit

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Legislative Council

Opinion

| certify that | have examined and audited the financial
statements of the Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund set out on pages 47 to 78, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes
in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund as at 31 March 2020, and of its results
of operations and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the manner provided in section
7(4) of the Trading Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430).

Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with section 7(5) of the
Trading Funds Ordinance and the Audit Commission auditing
standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auadlitors responsibiities for the audit of the
rnanclal statements section of my report. | am independent of
the Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund in
accordance with those standards, and | have fulfilled my other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards. |
believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
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Report of the Director of Audit

Responsibilities of the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund for the financial statements

The General Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund is responsible for the preparation of financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and section 7(4) of the Trading
Funds Ordinance, and for such internal control as the General
Manager, Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund is
responsible for assessing the Office of the Communications
Authority Trading Fund’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Audit
Commission auditing standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
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B EERRS Report of the Director of Audit

ERESHEENTENETSINBED  Re As part of an audit in accordance with the Audit Commission
B Y RS E RS o RIS auditing standards, | exercise professional judgment and
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maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. | also:

— identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control;

— obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Office of the Communications Authority Trading
Fund's internal control;

— evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the General Manager,
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund;
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Report of the Director of Audit

— conclude on the appropriateness of the General
Manager, Office of the Communications Authority
Trading Fund’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund's
ability to continue as a going concern. If | conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, | am required to
draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Office of the
Communications Authority Trading Fund to cease to
continue as a going concern; and

—  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Sl Clon

Assistant Director of Audit (Acting)
for Director of Audit

Audit Commission
26th Floor
Immigration Tower

7 Gloucester Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

24 September 2020

Chapter 7 | Financial Results @




0 B 75 4R 5
Financial Results

B Rk Financial Statements
2mEkZER Statement of Comprehensive Income
B E2020E3A3181LEE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LLBBEFTLIA ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
RKEBEFSHZEA Revenue from contracts with customers 4 443,041 460,888
BERAK Operating costs 5 (460,903) (468,945)
EEEE Loss from operations (17,862) (8,057)
2t (%) A Other (expense) / income 6 (19,384) 38,862
E£E (58) & (Loss) / Profit for the year (37,246) 30,805
Hit 2 E K& Other comprehensive income — —
EEBEE (BE) Wi Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (37,246) 30,805
BEE&EEERE Rate of return on fixed assets 7 -10.0% -0.8%

ES1Z78E MM AR HEIRFM —IBS o The notes on pages 51 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

BAFRIE R Statement of Financial Position
#202053H831H as at 31 March 2020
(LB TFTIF) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
2020 2019
ERBEE Non-current assets
W3 - R RIBEM Property, plant and equipment 8 139,712 133,254
BFEE Intangible assets 9 2,593 3,432
MEESTFR Placement with the Exchange Fund 10 525,122 510,322
667,427 647,008
REEE Current assets
FEURIR SR & E At R U 18 Trade and other receivables 11, 12(a) 7.396 120,191
PEURBIE A TR Amounts due from related parties 19 2,054 —
EWHINEEESETFE Interest receivable from placement with the 4,831 3,649
Exchange Fund
HiEWRRE Other interest receivable 3,710 3,640
RITEXK Bank deposits 715,900 520,900
RE KRBT Cash and bank balances 39,602 5,432
773,493 653,812
RE&E Current liabilities
BRI R H A FUE Trade and other payables 48,691 21,062
EEEFEE Provision for employee benefits 13 12,028 12,739
FEATEBE A L IRFX Amounts due to related parties 19 46,037 31,960
EIEWA Deferred income 12(b) 255,918 114,699
BURHRE M B BRI Target returns required by the Government 16 25,322 —
387,996 180,460
RENEEFHE Net current assets 385,497 473,352
BEEREREAERE Total assets less current liabilities 1,052,924 1,120,360
JEE A Non-current liabilities
EERFIRME Provision for employee benefits 13 81,349 86,217
BEE NET ASSETS 971,575 1,034,143
SAXHEE CAPITAL AND RESERVES
BIEHSER Trading fund capital 14 212,400 212,400
BRREE Development reserve 15 690,165 690,165
REBEF) Retained earnings 16 69,010 131,578
971,575 1,034,143
RihE Chaucer Leung
BNEKEERRLAE General Manager,
EEESAKE Office of the Communications Authority Trading Fund
20205 9H24H 24 September 2020

ES1Z78EMMIE AR EIRKM—IB5 o The notes on pages 51 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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B Rk a% Financial Statements
BEZS BB Statement of Changes in Equity
B E2020E3A3181LEE for the year ended 31 March 2020
(LLBBEFTLIA ) (Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)

2020 2019
EEER Balance at beginning of year 1,034,143 1,003,338
EEBEE (BE) Wi Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (37,246) 30,805
B R E HIEER Target returns required by the Government 16 (25,322) —
SERERR Balance at end of year 971,575 1,034,143

ES1Z78E MM AR HEIRFM —IBS o The notes on pages 51 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 March 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars)
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2020

2019

BERBZRLRE

EBEEER

FETHWA

HE FEHME - RERSE
M (RE) BB

W - RERSEMIE

B EE BN

W bR o B L At B M R IR
2/ (18h)

FEWREEE A IR RGN

FEATIRTR R EL AL FRIRIE AN

FEARAEE A T ORFRIE N

EIEWAE M, (F)

BEERABE (FL) /8

REFORBEIRE R R
HIRIR

BEEAMR® (FRA)
H&FHE

REFERZRERE
SNEESFRIZM

FEEHRA=MEA L LR
TIER (1gm) R

BEME  RBERFMNE
REE

HE EHEYE  RERR
MEBEES (%)

[EX &=

#&EEE (FA) A\
B&%#E

H&RFRBASMEINFER
FPMHREREFRE R

FROMERFRAES

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss from operations
Sundry income
(Gain)/ Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

Decrease / (Increase) in trade and other
receivables

Increase in amounts due from related parties
Increase in trade and other payables

Increase in amounts due to related parties
Increase / (Decrease) in deferred income
(Decrease)/ Increase in provision for employee benefits

Amount paid on settlement of restitution claims

Net cash from / (used in) operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Increase in placement with the Exchange Fund

(Increase) / Decrease in bank deposits with
original maturities over three months

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets

Net proceeds from / (Expenses for) disposal of
property, plant and equipment

Interest received

Net cash (used in) / from investing
activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

17

(17,862) (8,057)
3,976 6,967
(17) 15
10,992 9,440
1,097 926
112,793 (116,744)
(2,054) —
30,159 1,656
14,838 1,668
141,219 (88,398)
(5,579) 2,115
(52,517) —
237,045 (190,412)
(14,800) (22,442)
(176,000) 211,000
(21,016) (8,368)
35 (15)
27,906 30,851
(183,875) 211,026
53,170 20,614
32,332 11,718
85,502 32,332

E51E78EMMER AR —ID ° The notes on pages 51 to 78 form part of these financial statements.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

1. 485% 1. General

The Office of the Telecommunications Authority (OFTA)
Trading Fund was established on 1 June 1995 under

B ERTE1995F5B10H kB (EEREE
RG> (5430F) %3 4R6FBERE -
R19955F6 R1ER Y EAMEER (FAR)

EEET  ENREEESREE201254

the Legislative Council Resolution passed on 10 May
1995 pursuant to sections 3, 4 and 6 of the Trading
Funds Ordinance (Cap. 430). By virtue of section 25 of

R1BRKRERN (BREKEEREAG)
(5$616F) HB25FMRTE - REHEH D
25 [BASKEERMAE (GEMM) &

the Communications Authority Ordinance (CAO) (Cap.
616) which came into operation on 1 April 2012, the
OFTA Trading Fund was renamed as the Office of the

Communications Authority (OFCA) Trading Fund (the Fund)
on the same date. The OFCA serves as the executive arm

BHES] (BEEZ) - BAEBEER
(BAR) RERE (BASHEERMKM)
B HEERE  BAPARBARBNIT
BF - BRAAEERMAT (EHEIERAG)
(56562%F) ~ (EHE (BEME) &M
(36391F) ~ (EABBEERMKM) -
(EMMEHD) (8106F) ~ (FFEBEFH
BARBI) (58593F) ~ (BEmtAEAG)
(5362%) M (HRFEEA) ($619F)

I AR5 BRI BT EIBRE - &2
ESBEBEREBRITRERE (BAF) B
BEREERRRE  XEBMRBNEIEX
o B supports the principal activities of the CA, as follows:

of the Communications Authority (CA), which is a statutory
body set up under the CAO to administer and enforce
the Broadcasting Ordinance (Cap. 562), the Broadcasting
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 391), the CAQO,
the Telecommunications Ordinance (Cap. 106) and the
Unsolicited Electronic Messages Ordinance (UEMO) (Cap.
593), as well as the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362)
and the Competition Ordinance (Cap. 619), and to perform
any function under or by virtue of any Ordinance. The Fund,
which is under the policy portfolio of the Commerce and
Economic Development Bureau of the Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the Government),

(a) EMRBEEBRFHOZENRE

(a) licensing and regulating telecommunications services
and broadcasting services;

(b) BEREEFEHEENEE

(c) MEA  ERRRERAESSEOBUN
RAER - REFZERE

(b) managing Hong Kong's radio frequency spectrum;

(c) providing advisory, planning and support services on
telecommunications, broadcasting, anti-spamming
matters to the Government;

(d) BEERMEENTERSHE LEREBUT
&K Government on international affairs;

(e) 1T CIEEEEFAEMAD ; UK (e) enforcing the UEMO; and

() BREMAXEERXEDNLATERFE (f) ensuring the enforcement of fair trading practices and
FETAFHRE -

(d) overseeing technical standards and representing the

fair competition in relation to telecommunications and
broadcasting sectors.

D =tz mnHn
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. FEEFHR

2. Significant accounting policies

(a)

RHeEARA

FUBBRRREZREBARNETRAR
FEERNERBYBEREER (LRAEHR
B BEhEREEEETMASESTNMA
EANERNEBUBIREER  HBEE
ZARZE) R -LEESRANER
S BCRBENT -

BERSTRASES TETHEREES

MNEBYBHREENIRASHHERE

MHAHEANRR - EEESREERR

HepE A ER M| EARM B IRR M

MASH RS HNETRRNRE
(WF) FRHMES -

R BIHRERNVER
A BHRROERER Y URERASE

i

RRENEEBUBREENNPHIRE -
EEEEBHEHHE - G RERR - ZE
HE - A RBREFESTRENE
it AREEESBENBRAEZHNZR
ME o RS REENRER - 9RUE
KERRAMEERELATHRARSENE
EmMHE - MERBEMRKBETHS
Z . AERAZSETRERESHER
HEERESENREENER o (54
HERBREEBERTRE °

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs), a collective
term which includes all applicable individual HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA). A summary of
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Fund
is set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Fund. Note 3 provides
information on the changes, if any, in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to
the extent that they are relevant to the Fund for the current
and prior accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is historical cost.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis for making judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousand's of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. TEEBER (F

(b) MmHIEHMRNOER (F,

ZEMFREMRBENRREESER
o BT REEAREHE - SEEHE
ATHHATER  BURERBRARNE
A AREETREEZERARRBEA
R o

CEESHEERSTREAEL RS RE
BRSNS R HIEf - SRR IR
R HAEHE B AFHBRET A ERN T
BEZ EFRUBREARE SHE
EMEEHIREEERE KIBIEFT -

BE&EE

MR199556 A1HBREEEESHNEESE
B BRUNRAERIRALABE1995F
58108 BIBERZEP TP A EE AR ©
H1995F6 A1 ARBENEECEE 91
HBEBRARNERBEZIAR -

(i) Y2 -~ BEREEW

T - RERF[MEE ZRAE
N BR R 57 8 R AR AR E & 8 5 IR
(BiEE 2(d))

— BRAHEELHREE R
— RERSEN  BEEAEERR

B BHAESL KA RKERE
o

D =tz mnHnR

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (continued))

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

There are no critical accounting judgments involved in
the application of the Fund’s accounting policies. There
are also no key assumptions concerning the future,
or other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities in the next year.

Fixed assets

The fixed assets appropriated to the Fund on 1 June
1995 were measured initially at deemed cost equal to
the value contained in the Resolution of the Legislative
Council passed on 10 May 1995. Fixed assets acquired
since 1 June 1995 are capitalised at the actual costs of
acquisition or installation.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and
equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses (note 2(d)):

— leasehold land and buildings held for own use;
and

- plant and equipment, including
telecommunications and broadcasting
equipment, computer systems, furniture,
fixtures and motor vehicles.
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BAF R RMisE Notes to the Financial Statements
(BRIEFYZZ L) + 2L B F T ° ) (Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)
2. FESFHER (& 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) BEEE (#& (c) Fixed assets (continued)

(i) Y3k ~ REBRIBM (F (i) Property, plant and equipment (continued)
MEREREYE RBERSEBHIMGE Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of
HAGEEES  EHEEGRS items of property, plant and equipment, less their

L S g ek . estimated residual value, on a straight-line basis
& ?k&ﬁﬁ,{;ﬁ&fﬁ,\ﬁ}m&{ﬁ ol over their estimated useful lives as follows:
LSt A EAE T ¢
— et RAENRERFHE - Leasehold land over the unexpired term of lease
— UAEEL RFKEEFHR - Buildings over the shorter of the unexpired
W EE AERFEHMmE S situated on term of lease and their useful
NEBEETE leasehold land lives
— R1EB 5Z12%F - Equipment 5to 12 years
— EMESK 5% - Computer 5 years
systems
— RAREE 5% - Furniture and 5 years
fixtures
— B 54 — Motor vehicles 5 years
HE FHEME -  RERSBVMEE Gains or losses arising from the disposal of property,
RN HE e RS EET plant and equipment are determined as the
. . S difference between the net disposal proceeds and
'NE s N7 BR ©® = = . .
EZE%"HEEEE j]zj\\'lﬂ B the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised
AE2ERBRARR in the statement of comprehensive income on the

date of disposal.
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(c) BEEE (#)
(il B EE

BELEESRBANERBR4GERR
EEREHNERRGERXEZERAK
B MmEMBUEXERM LT -
MEBEESEENERREERAKH
BIE EENHAZEBEASEHRESR
k- EXtERAEBREEEIERY
NER BEEERRETENKRR
FrEEREMBEEEBIR (M
2(d)) o

BREENHBHEESFE12FNEE
EETAERFERUEREIIAZEHR
AR ©

(d) FFEMEENRE

FEMEE (BEWE  RERJHM
BEE) WIREELRSE BTG - U
BERDHRMENS

MERBENS  SELEENKREES
RAUBESER  IERARESESE
EHBRHERAER EENTWEEHE
AEATVEREHE FEHRAERER
EREFNRSE -
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousand's of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Fixed assets (continued))

(ii) Intangible assets

Intangible assets include acquired computer
software licences and capitalised development
costs of computer software programs. Expenditure
on development of computer software programs is
capitalised if the programs are technically feasible
and the Fund has sufficient resources and intention
to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes direct labour and cost of
materials. Intangible assets are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any impairment
losses (note 2(d)).

Amortisation of intangible assets is charged to the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-
line basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives of
5to 12 years.

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets, including
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets,
are reviewed at the reporting date to identify any
indication of impairment.

If any such indication exists, an impairment loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceed:s its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an
asset is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use.
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2. XEEFBR #
() SREERLMAM

(i) DB ERARTE

EEESNEREERRENEREST
R BUWIRSR R E R YKIE - B
BEANLTIR - BIRRIE - RITERK

MRS RIRITHEER ©

EEESHNETREEEERMIIRIR
HENFIE - BERANBEREN

BEA LIRS

LEESHMAAHEESRIANED
HY -Gz RIAEEEMEERSE
MEE - TORERR  TRMEER
TREBFERAFETE > BMEFRE
ZRBETREESELSRAEAN

HESIBHRZRA °

(i) PEREZBNFTE

CEESKEMATREEIBAH
BRUBBRNRARBERNETE
AAFHETREENRDMESNRE
RERENNERERAMBE - B
BHRERBEERNITNEER
e - EHEENEBRBERIIRRE
MiEE2(e)(iv) TN RBEERR

B E -

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements
(Amount expressed in thousands of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Initial recognition and measurement

The Fund's financial assets comprise placement
with the Exchange Fund, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties,
interest receivables, bank deposits, and cash and
bank balances.

The Fund’s financial liabilities comprise trade and
other payables, provision for employee benefits
and amounts due to related parties.

The Fund recognises financial assets and financial
liabilities on the date it becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. At initial
recognition, financial assets and financial liabilities
are measured at fair value plus or minus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial assets or the issue of the financial
liabilities.

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement

The Fund classifies all financial assets as
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method, on the basis that they
are held within a business model whose objective
is to hold them for collection of contractual cash
flows and the contractual cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. The
measurement of loss allowances for financial assets
is based on the expected credit loss model as
described in note 2(e)(iv).
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BTSRRI
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2. TEEBER (F

(e) TRMEEHTHEME &

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i) ?ERHERWTE (&

BERAMZERAECRHEEDNERE
BENEBERAE  UARESNERS
BEHENANERARIENGE - B
BAXREISZEREENTHE
BEARBBANES RSV - i
BERZEREENIREARERNZEH
BEMNBHENERBERANBERE -
LEESHEMAEERINRE g8
ZEBMTANRESHRRUETTR
TRE  EFNEZEHEHNEESE -
R ERREERNREENRE
BWERBEHEXNTFENETHNER X
SRAR A EMEERITE o

CEESKHEMATHEEIBEAH
BREREABBRARERBHRAETE
HIER o

EEATEAEEESREENER
BAHRZEHE  TEEEHEEE
Mo  cRABETEEHNIE -

(iii) FESHRER

ENEREERDNRERENEGIE
MEWRE AZEHEEERERRE
HVFT A £ ZE b & O 4R R R
ZEREESPRIHER

ERNEANEBWELR - BUERE
iR - 2B EEREHEER -

@D =tz mBHR

(i) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or a financial liability and of allocating and
recognising the interest income or interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset or to
the amortised cost of the financial liability. When
calculating the effective interest rate, the Fund
estimates the expected cash flows by considering
all contractual terms of the financial instrument
but does not consider the expected credit losses.
The calculation includes all fees received or paid
between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and all other premiums or discounts.

The Fund classifies all financial liabilities as
subsequently measured at amortised cost using
effective interest method.

The Fund reclassifies a financial asset when and
only when it changes its business model for
managing the asset. A financial liability is not
reclassified.

(iii) Derecognition

A financial asset is derecognised when the
contractual rights to receive the cash flows from
the financial asset expire, or where the financial
asset together with substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred.

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged
or cancelled, or when it expires.
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2. EEERTHR & 2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) tRIBEEHSMER (&, (e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets

(v) EREENRE

EEECHRBENTETENSE
BMEE (BWIRMRERN) HKAB=
EREBRAKN S EATERBEES
B TRIAMENEEFARKRRR
EERIBED  MEAHEESEN
SFEERBURR B 716 URY
FERBEL

F—MEER - 12B B EHEERE

HEEURERUR  ERTANEE
E I EAMREEN - 2HMEHEEE
B RRERE A K128 B AR REE
EMENEHEIBNERFEBEN
BB T LARERR ©

F_MER: 2HENGERE-FE
BRE

HEEURERUR  ERTANEE
b AtEIEM - BEXIFEERE 2
HEMFEESRE (RRESHTAN
EHEMBAMETREELENENS
HEIBNEREERSE) TURR -

The Fund applies a three-stage approach to
measure expected credit losses on financial
assets (other than trade receivables) measured
at amortised cost and to recognise the
corresponding loss allowances and impairment
losses or reversals, with the change in credit
risk since initial recognition determining the
measurement bases for expected credit losses:

Stage 1: 12-month expected credit losses

For financial instruments for which there has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the portion of the lifetime expected
credit losses that represent the expected credit
losses that result from default events that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting
date are recognised.

Stage 2: Lifetime expected credit losses - not
credit impaired

For financial instruments for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition but that are not credit impaired,
lifetime expected credit losses representing the
expected credit losses that result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the
financial instruments are recognised.
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2. TEEBER (F

(e) TRMEEHTHEME &

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets (continued))

(v EREERRE (&

B=RR:  2HENFEBE-FE
AR

EEMIACHEGERE 2R
HEEFBETUER  FEWARR
FAEFR A 2= 12 48 85 A AN (8 T FF R T 48
BFTE -

FEWIRRHBERBRER -ERERAR
EHEMFERRNESETE -

TEE 5B RN

EEERER  2EESHELEBER
TERKREARNDIGERD AT
MNEMERBAHRENNRERE - UL
FEEMTANFERRE S KIEE
e BRAFGEERUTHEREE
MER  UAREFEENER - 73
A-BHSZN-EHETREENMG
SAARRREREBETNZENSEHS
ZERMEESWTERARELHEER
@ o

CEESEMARAREER LML
BYRERUREERRE S AESE
meBEahms  SRMIARL
BEERRBENEERE  XER
REFER - FERRFERELMAAE
HE -

D =tz mnHn

Stage 3: Lifetime expected credit losses - credit
impaired

For financial instruments that have become credit
impaired, lifetime expected credit losses are
recognised and interest income is calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost rather than the gross carrying amount.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always
measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected
credit losses.

Determimmeg S[gmicant Increases 1 creait risk

At each reporting date, the Fund assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for financial instruments since initial recognition by
comparing the risk of default occurring over the
remaining expected life as at the reporting date
with that as at the date of initial recognition. The
assessment considers quantitative and qualitative
historical information as well as forward-looking
information. A financial asset is assessed to be
credit impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

The Fund assesses whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition on an individual or collective basis.
For collective assessment, financial instruments
are grouped on the basis of shared credit risk
characteristics, taking into account investment
type, credit risk ratings and other relevant factors.
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2. XEEFBR (&)

(e) TRMEEHTHEME &

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(iv) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(v EREENRE (&)

SNERE ERFRBIRER B AVRITERK
HEABEGFERR - HiEHMTA
HHENRRE BXZHUFHEN
AEBHEBEIERHNETHAEY
REREEM SRRABEEER
o EESMT ANEERRSRT
EH B R LRI A

EEREEEZINE ZEMEES
BB RERRME - ZFEER
ERAMALERFNEESRESER
MsE o HRWE CATRMENSES
EEEWSERAER

TEEYEEE

THITENAHRFEFERHZER
TAEEHBERPRAN QA FRERR
MEEFNEESE (AMAERE
EMRE) ~ ERREABBEN
BNTEEESHNRERNEREELR
EHEMERINRERENERNE
B AeREEERE AFHEER
B EEESRBZEENREARE
HEREERRERAERAMRL X
B ARARRERENBEEZHNE
BTERBEEEE -

Placements with banks with an external credit
rating of investment grade are considered to
have a low credit risk. Other financial instruments
are considered to have a low credit risk if they
have a low risk of default and the counterparty
or borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.
The credit risk on these financial instruments is
assessed as not having increased significantly
since initial recognition.

When a financial asset is uncollectible, it is written
off against the related loss allowance. Such assets
are written off after all the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss
has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

Measurement of expected credlt /losses

Expected credit losses of a financial instrument are
an unbiased and probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash
shortfalls) over the expected life of the financial
instrument. A cash shortfall is the difference
between the cash flows due to the Fund in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Fund expects to receive. For a financial
asset that is credit impaired at the reporting date,
the Fund measures the expected credit losses as
the difference between the asset's gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the asset's original
effective interest rate.
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2. TEEBER (F

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f)

EEWA

EEBEESNZAEFEEREN  BF
FXARE REEBESHEBEERMD
EAWMZAE  SBHENaERA
REZEWRA - EEEBEESOARTFER
MBLELBTEBNEEE
HERNELZRAFBREA -

PN 32

EEESHBTOEFERMARREN
BHEERSHEIREZTFANNRA - &
BACERSHMBRZRB M A EE
BHRESHE -

FEWARER R RELUER 5 R

H AR BT AL RERT -

BEREF

LEESHREEREABERGNES -
e ek FRAIEREREM)
BERBHFERUETEERIAIR
RABEMS @ EEMHEANAXEEH
BRRHTREENERREREERF - 5
HREESREABERBNFERME -

HREUTZRASHRAZBNABERESR
BEEERXN TR BN SENRX
e BEMES R ARSI BINHE
REZEWERAZHE

® =tz mnHmn

()

Deferred income

If a customer pays consideration, or the Fund has an
unconditional right to consideration, before the Fund
transfers a service to the customer, the Fund recognises
its contract liability as deferred income. The Fund
derecognises the deferred income and recognises
revenue when the Fund transfers the service and,
therefore, satisfies its performance obligation.

Revenue recognition

The Fund recognises revenue from contracts with
customers when it satisfies a performance obligation
by transferring a promised service to a customer, at the
amount of consideration to which the Fund expects to
be entitled in exchange for the service.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method.

Other income is recognised on an accrual basis.

Employee benefits

The employees of the Fund comprise civil servants
and contract staff. Salaries, staff gratuities and annual
leave entitlements are accrued and recognised
as expenditure in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by the staff. For civil servants,
staff on-costs, including pensions and housing benefits
provided to the staff by the Government, are charged
as expenditure in the year in which the associated
services are rendered.

For civil servants employed on pensionable terms, their
pension liabilities are discharged by reimbursement
of the staff on-cost charged by the Government. For
other staff, contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred.
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2. FEEFBR #F

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(i)

(k)

BEAL

LEESTERE (BEEERAHA) K
Vo BRBERETH-EBLETE
e REFALEEEESHAEXEBHE
HAFNEEALETRS EhBHE
ERRBRBAMNM - HthEEES -
URZBFAMENSIBAHEAEARY
ENHNTHE EHE -

INESI]E

FAMNMNEREMNRZRRZ ANEE
ERBERBT - IFBTAENEREE
REEYUREANKRTERRERE
T o FTANEIREEL NE RIS NER
E2HEBBERAER

RERZERRE

BeERERRASVERSRRITES U
kEEHARBEESNAMRE - ZER
ERBRERACASENRS - BT
KNEEZFEARIA  TEFARBA
BEIHATER=MEA -

(i)

Related parties

The Fund is a separate accounting entity within the
Government established under the Trading Funds
Ordinance. During the year, the Fund has entered into
transactions with various related parties, including
government bureaux and departments, other trading
funds and financially autonomous bodies controlled
or significantly influenced by the Government, in the
ordinary course of its business.

Foreign currency translation

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars using the spot
exchange rates at the transaction dates. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other
than Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong Kong
dollars using the closing exchange rate at the reporting
date. All foreign currency translation differences are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and bank
balances, and other short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three months of
maturity when placed or acquired.
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2. XEEHBR #
() BERSIBEAE

MEAFRCBRENSHAREREREESR
£ MXAEFRMNHEBELEUET
ZIEEE - WA EMGTSIRNE
BN RREAERELHEE L AR
EMEERRE -

MEENKBEEEN - ASRATRE
TROARMERFEMAXNREFLRME -

FEAEAHECURERANHERR
B HEEUJSFMESIRNEE  Z
EEFEEUSREENTERANE  KRIE
ANHEBERENTEMEBE - ERA
REARRERERRRSREMN T8
BERBHBENIAEME  FTEUSREA
BENEAKE  RIFATHEARE
HY AT BEPEABAE o

3. WA B

BBEMASEA T ETHEREBITN
ERVBREENINASHPEN - BF
RABBHRERMEBFENSIEE » XK
RELBERMAETMRE -

EEESWRERMEIMAELAS I RE
MEFEA R (M 22) -

® =tz mnHn

Financial Statements

Notes to the Financial Statements

(Amount expressed in thousand's of Hong Kong dollars, unless otherwise stated.)

2. Significant accounting policies (continued)
() Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when there is a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate
can be made.

Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits
is remote.

3. Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued certain new or revised HKFRSs
that are effective for the current accounting period. There
have been no changes to the accounting policies applied
in these financial statements for the years presented as a
result of these developments.

The Fund has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period (note 22).
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4. RKEBERESHZIA 4. Revenue from contracts with customers

2020 2019

ENERE Telecommunications licence fees
MR — A Licences - Public 322,612 339,566
MR —-E=H Licences - Private 40,579 44,523
EEERE Broadcasting licence fees 43,731 42,888
EEAE A TIRMERSE (FisE19(a)) Services provided to related 35,824 33,621
parties (note 19(a))
FEEWA Miscellaneous revenue 295 290

443,041 460,888

EEETEEMRERMATIMRESL -
B (EEEA) K (EFERH) - £BE
SEFFANNENELE  TBSREAR
BEREERBNBEENRESE - FEEE
ARABNREE L£EESRERMUEH
RFWESETTEBOEME  LUEHEE

The Fund supports the CA to administer and enforce
various ordinances including the Broadcasting Ordinance
and the Telecommunications Ordinance. The Fund'’s
performance obligations in contracts with customers mainly
involve licensing and regulating telecommunications
services and broadcasting services. A licensee is required
to pay service fee in advance. The Fund satisfies its

AR RS E -

EREEEATRENZEH KSR LA
RIEMMRERY  £EESRERMUAH
REWERET T BOEME  WiRWE 25
A A TR B BB B R FE R AR A B

5. BIER A

performance obligation as the service is rendered and
recognises the fee over time on a straight-line basis.

For advisory and project, and frequency assignment
and protection services provided to related parties, the
Fund satisfies its performance obligation as the service is
rendered and recognises a service fee over time on a full
cost recovery basis.

5. Operating costs

2020 2019

BIRA

NS YIRS
B

THRIX

BEE

I - B RBEMITE

B EEHN
EiTEH

Staff costs 391,055 376,218
Accommodation costs 20,955 20,146
Operating expenses 26,444 27,306
Administrative expenses 9,038 32,539
Consultancy fees 762 1,965
Depreciation of property, plant 10,992 9,440
and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,097 926
Audit fees 560 405

460,903 468,945
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6. Hith (FA3Z) A 6. Other (expense) / income
2020 2019
JEUANFEIIRNEFEENFI S WA Interest income from financial
assets not at fair value
HNEESTFR Placement with the 15,981 20,558
Exchange Fund
RITIFR Bank deposits 13,174 11,335
IRITAEER Bank balances 2 2
29,157 31,895
MW (FFEE11) Sundry income (note 11) 3,976 6,967
BFFREEREREM L THRIE Amount paid on settlement of (52,517) _
(Ff¥zE20) restitution claims (note 20)
(19,384) 38,862
7. B EEERE 7. Rate of return on fixed assets
B EEENRELEUNE2ERBZBRUBTES The rate of return on fixed assets is calculated as total
EVSEFEANTIR B2EKEDF comprehensive income divided by average net fixed assets
AR FEFBFEWA - FIEZ HMNBHR and expressed as a percentage. Total comprehensive income

is adjusted by excluding interest income, interest expenses

RERREBEHFRMIAWRE -BEEER
B RBERBEMNERLEE - BYK

and amount paid on settlement of restitution claims. Fixed
assets include property, plant and equipment and intangible

ARRMEE  RHMEEESAUERN assets. The Fund is expected to meet a target rate of return on
FEETEEBERRERS5% (20195 : fixed assets of 5.5% per year (2019: 5.5%) as determined by
5.5%) o the Financial Secretary.

@ =tz mnnn
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8. ¥1% - R R 2EH

5%
2018548 1H
B

HE G
A20195F3H31H
2019548 1H
RE

HE T
#20205E3A31H
FEHAE
201854 H1H
FRFE

HeE i E B
20193 H31H

720194818
FRITE

HE FHEEEE
¥:202043A31H

IREFE
$22020£3A31H

MR2019%3A31H

Cost

At 1 April 2018
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2019

At 1 April 2019
Additions
Disposals

At 31 March 2020
Accumulated depreciation

At 1 April 2018
Charge for the year

Written back on disposal
At 31 March 2019

At 1 April 2019

Charge for the year
Written back on disposal
At 31 March 2020

Net book value
At 31 March 2020

At 31 March 2019

8. Property, plant and equipment

TR
RE

RER
RE
Furniture
and
fixtures

il ERSR

Equipment Computer
systems

B

Motor
vehicles

POk
Total

Land and
buildings

220,243 58,595 43,261 48,444 5,055 375,598
— 1,014 5,658 474 767 7,913

— — (1,733) (24) (559) (2,316)
220,243 59,609 47,186 48,894 5,263 381,195
220,243 59,609 47,186 48,894 5,263 381,195
— 11,705 3,334 735 1,686 17,460

— — (2,397) — (856) (3,253)
220,243 71,314 48,123 49,629 6,093 395,402
98,769 51,867 38,428 47,025 4,726 240,815
4,849 1,498 2,179 778 136 9,440

— — (1,731) (24) (559) (2,314)
103,618 53,365 38,876 47,779 4,303 247,941
103,618 53,365 38,876 47,779 4,303 247,941
4,849 2,519 2,669 614 341 10,992

— — (2,387) — (856) (3,243)
108,467 55,884 39,158 48,393 3,788 255,690
111,776 15,430 8,965 1,236 2,305 139,712
116,625 6,244 8,310 1,115 960 133,254
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9. BEE 9. Intangible assets

BB FRERRGHEER

Computer software licences and system development costs

2020 2019
5% Cost
F9 At beginning of year 16,593 13,846
"B Additions 258 2,796
HE FEeH Disposals (369) (49)
FR At end of year 16,482 16,593
Sty Accumulated amortisation
F9) At beginning of year 13,161 12,284
FREHE Charge for the year 1,097 926
HE FEEEE Written back on disposal (369) (49)
FH At end of year 13,889 13,161
IREFE Net book value
FR Atend of year 2,593 3,432

10. SMEEEHFR 10. Placement with the Exchange Fund

NEESHFERESASE2, 512288 T The balance of the placement with the Exchange Fund

being the principal sum of HK$480,000,000 plus interest paid
but not yet withdrawn at the reporting date of HK$45,122,000
(2019: HK$30,322,000). The term of the placement is six years
from the date of placement, during which the amount of

8,0008B tALRS » 451228 (2019
F:3,032.288) BEREHCAKREH
AREBMWAE - ZEARBHAF (HEFEXA

) - MATREDRASE principal sum cannot be withdrawn.
NEESERANEREFE1IBEWEES R Interest on the placement is payable at a fixed rate
HE o GEEAHESREASBAENENT determined every January. The rate is the average annual
BEEREERR = E R EEE investment return of the Exchange Fund’s Investment Portfolio
) = v gy — H T 1E —_

for the past six years or the average annual yield of three-

BEENFEHEERS  URETBESES
® - TRBO% - 2020 FWEAELERTHF minimum of zero percent, whichever is the higher. The interest

3.7% » 2019F BB F2.9% ° rate has been fixed at 3.7% per annum for the year 2020 and
at 2.9% per annum for the year 2019.

year Government Bonds for the previous year subject to a

@ =tz mnHnR
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11. FEWIR R % H fth FE UG FRIE 11. Trade and other receivables

2020 2019

FEUR R =X Trade receivables 6,747 119,510
A OREEEAIRIR Less: allowance for — —

impairment loss

6,747 119,510
JB{IEIE Advance payments 435 511
ReREMmERRIE Deposits and other receivables 214 170
7,396 120,191

FRREGEFEERSEBOT : The movement in the allowance for impairment loss during
the year is as follows:

F9 At beginning of year — 5,097
SRR A REAREE Unused amount reversed — (5,097)
FR Atend of year — —
—XEVBREN QXA XA M BH The loss allowance of HK$5,097,000 on an amount due
500.7TE BTG REEEDELSEHES Y from a company in financial difficulties was reversed
EHEAREE201953831 B L EEE in the year ended 31 March 2019 when the amount
B AR WA BB BMER A (W was received by the Fund, with corresponding income
6) included under sundry income (note 6).

12. HEFRHEHEGER 12. Contract balances with customers
(a) EBIERRENEE (a) Receivables and contract assets
AEEREBIEHNRE A E > EHRE For services provided to licensees, the balance of
AEWE SN ERERTI125 5 receivables at the reporting date is presented as trade
BUIES « BBESUEEMAYE receivables in note 11. The Fund does not have any
;s ' contract assets.
= o
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12. IERWS LR (& 12. Contract balances with customers (continued))
(b) EHERE (b) Contract liabilities
OB E S O 8433 FE < ZIE 19 3 The Fund’s obligations to provide services to
BIEMBENSE  EHBERRER licensees for which the Fund has received advance
2B T U A o A T R B payments from the licensees are presented as
o ) - deferred income in the statement of financial
E-SN 4 X
ﬂﬂﬁﬂq— ARREERBEBERNS position. Licensees are required to pay annual
BEHMBEATFAANRRE - TR licence fees upon issue of the licence, and on each
BENERETENERS  #1F2 anniversary thereafter during the validity period
1BERE « BB AR of the licences. Licence period for each type of
RBETASMNISRE  SEERTL licence varies, ranging from 1 to 15 years. When a
B AN SR Y T SR A 2T licensee does not pay licence fee on an anniversary
") o : date, the licence may be suspended or revoked
I B D 4 5 4 1T o 3 £
AELEQ.:. ’%,Ji:@"jfﬂﬁ ;‘E%H&Ainﬁ’% and the contract with the licensee would become
REEHREAIBERET (HHD unenforceable. The balances of deferred income
RET) BREEINEXZERK - & represent the aggregate amount of the transaction
EEHSHEHE-FRAERZSELER price allocated to the performance obligations that
ABBA c SEEMAREESEHW are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) at the reporting
RERRAKSER o date. The Fund expects to recognise the deferred
’ income as revenue within one year. No consideration
from contracts with customers is not included in the
transaction price.
FRAELERALEHNEREHE5M Significant changes in the balances of deferred
T: income during the year are shown below:
REFEDNSBIELERA SR FRIBESE Decrease due to (114,699) (203,097)
WD AW A TR recognition as revenue
during the year that
was included in the
balances of deferred
income at beginning
of year
B o U B TR A3 ROB T4 A Increase dueto advance ' 255,918 114,699
payments received
during the year

® =tz mnHmn
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13. EEEFIEHEE

HREFEREARFREHRNORBS TR
EFBREREHNEENRMESNMATEE
(REFFE2(h)) °

14, EEELERXR
AR S EESNRE

15. 3 REfEE

HREDBESEHERCROABEH
B WRERREMBEENETR -
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13. Provision for employee benefits

This represents the estimated liability for employees’
annual leave and obligations on contract-end gratuities
payable to contract staff for services rendered up to the
reporting date (see note 2(h)).

14. Trading fund capital

This represents the Government's investment in the Fund.

15. Development reserve

This is a reserve serving as a regulating mechanism to
meet the target return as well as to reduce the need for
future fee increases.

2020 2019

FUREFREER

16. {(REE2ZF

Balance at beginning and 690,165 690,165
end of year

16. Retained earnings

2020 2019

FHEEER
FEAZE (BR) k&

HAFRERN B RER
FRE

Balance at beginning of year 131,578 100,773

Total comprehensive (loss) / (37,246) 30,805
income for the year

Target returns required by the (25,322) —
Government

Balance at end of year 69,010 131,578
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16. RERF #

16. Retained earnings (continued)

2020518 » BUFRIE (EEESKRH)
F10(1)IEIE B E2019563 8318 LM =
BEEL2,53228B B ERHR (R
7) ERBUNF—RBA - BEAEREN2020
FA4ATH ° A2020F3A310 » € EES
FRT767.2BBTNRERER - LUEER
BRABT  Z2BEAMERBSNEZE2020
FIAMALFEEZBREEE o FFRER
EENSENRESRFBUFNERME ©
BELEESTAREBZLIR - RIE (&
BESEAH) F66)c)f BERBIZE
BEHETE - 4 EESATWEBUNNIER
By [0 IR T B8 5200 o

BRZBEERRIN EEESTCHEE
3,044 2EBTHREBER (2019%F :

In January 2020, the Government directed the transfer
of the target returns of HK$25,322,000 in total (see note
7) for the three years ended 31 March 2019 into General
Revenue pursuant to section 10(1) of the Trading Funds
Ordinance. The transfer was completed in April 2020. As at
31 March 2020, the Fund had set aside retained earnings
of HK$7,672,000, being the calculated amount of target
return for the year ended 31 March 2020, for future transfer
to the Government. The actual amount and timing of future
transfer will be subject to the direction by the Government.
While the target return is entrusted to be retained in the
Fund, it will become payable to the Government upon
receiving direction from the Government and is not subject
to the Fund's disposal pursuant to section 6(6)(c) of the
Trading Funds Ordinance.

Apart from the target return, the Fund had also set
aside retained earnings of HK$30,442,000 (2019:

HK$82,959,000) for restitution of excessive licence fees

8,295.9887) -« UFREFEHESH
HERE (RMEE20) °

paid by licensees (see note 20).

17. IRERERIRE 17. Cash and cash equivalents

BeRIBITERS Cash and bank balances 39,602 5,432
RITER Bank deposits 715,900 520,900
755,502 526,332
B RERRAE=EA L EWRITER Less: Bank deposits with (670,000) (494,000)

original maturities

over three months
HERERES Cash and cash equivalents 85,502 32,332

@D =tz mBHR
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18. BRFIER Hith k7

72020538310 » EEESHARBETH
HERPEHEENERRENT :

18. Capital commitments and other commitments

At 31 March 2020, the Fund had capital commitments,
so far as not provided for in the financial statements, as
stated below:

2020 2019

EERENEEY Authorised and 707 7,980
contracted for

DEREBEAEY Authorised but not 4,689 5,939
contracted for

BT FERESE UM BY A2 R A AR
EEEEEF 2BRABRNIRSES
BBRBMERS (—EAXRHS) R2012
FMARLEBARMEN [HRERRF
=&l (GHE) - #ZRR 201554 A30H
BINRBETHE  EEESKREMUESF
THEB2008B T EBEN - T
REEBE-FR gEESCAEREHR
98. 18T (20195 : 9548 # L) -

19. BEEEAN LM 5

REEHBREABFRENZZ I EE
BATEAFEETHEMOEERSHEN
T

(@ MBEEATRMENEEEFELE
2,313.48B%8 7T (20194 : 1,962.888
7T) MBAMKERBENKRE  URE
81,2698 87T (20194 : 1,399.388
7T) WUSERIEEARERBEAINE ;

19.

5,396 13,919

To help resolve billing disputes in deadlock between
telecommunications service providers and their customers
outside the judicial system, a voluntary Customer
Complaint Settlement Scheme (the scheme) was set up in
November 2012 by the Communications Association of
Hong Kong, the industry association. By a Memorandum
of Understanding signed on 30 April 2015, the Fund will
provide recurrent funding for the long term operation of
the scheme in the amount not exceeding HK$2,000,000
per annum. During the year, the Fund had contributed
HK$981,000 (2019: HK$954,000) to the scheme.

Related party transactions

Apart from those separately disclosed in the financial
statements, the other material related party transactions
for the year are summarised as follows:

(a) fees income for services provided to related parties
included advisory and project services amounting
to HK$23,134,000 (2019: HK$19,628,000)
and frequency assignment and protection
services amounting to HK$12,690,000 (2019:
HK$13,993,000);
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19. BBEANX®YRE S (&)

(b) BEAEATRENBREEERAZHS
X RENEE EZEBER  PRE
BHMEGTHIE £EESHELRE
#%H2,567.78 BT (20195 : 2,781.8
BEx) Uk

(c) MBEALTEESNYE RERIBM
EREHREE EEETEEELE
169.388B 7t (20195 : 77.88BxT) -

HEBEATREREBEATREHENR
%o MERTEAARESR  MRARE
NN ERRE  WZREREMEEA
TR AREAEANE - AEEA
THENEIEEERZHRANRE -

202053 A31 HEBAEA LR ZNE
BEERUBARRERA

20. A BFAER

B E20195F K 20205F3A310 1k » BRM
FERBBARERARS N ERENFAE
REARES - BFRRELRRBHRELR
FoOYEEEREEASCABAXNESR
NERKRRENTERBENFRR - R2018
F108  BFEBARRECLEEEERN
201853 A31AMRERAF HTRES,295.9
BB BHRBARENEERRERE
REBESANBRFNESHMBREAE - U
FRERBENARERE  RIERDER
BRARSEEE - ENMEHNERER
EEESRAREAIRNEEAERRYEE
BB E -

@D =tz | HBHRR
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19. Related party transactions (continued)

(b) expenses for services received from related parties
included accommodation, repairs and maintenance,
legal advice, central administration and auditing.
In total, the Fund incurred HK$25,677,000 (2019:
HK$27,818,000) on these services; and

(c) property, plant and equipment acquired from related
parties included motor vehicles and furniture. The
total amount of these fixed assets amounted to
HK$1,693,000 (2019: HK$778,000).

Services provided by or to related parties were charged
at the rates payable by the general public where such
services were also available to members of the public,
or on a full cost recovery basis where such services were
only available to related parties. Fixed assets supplied by
related parties were charged at full cost.

Balances with related parties as at 31 March 2020
are set out in the statement of financial position.

20. Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2019 and 2020, there were several
outstanding litigation cases filed with the court by licensees,
claiming for restitution of excessive licence fees paid by
them. The Government intends to vigorously contest these
claims and will be responsible for claims for those amounts
related to notional profits tax and dividends which have
been paid to the Government by the Fund. In October
2018, the Government and the CA decided that out of
the retained earnings of the Fund as at 31 March 2018,
HK$82,959,000, being the total amount of notional profits
tax and dividend retained in the Fund after deduction of
target returns required by the Government, would be set
aside for refund of licence fees to the licensees, pending
resolution of the claims for restitution. The Fund considers
that, based on the legal advice obtained, the overall
financial effect of the claims cannot be estimated reliably.
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20. HHERE 7

FR - EEESAMRBRBEREBNI S
RAZFT75251.7887T (2019 1 &]&) o
72020F3H31H » RREBRBERRBE
HREBRBRMEREESS,044.28 BT (2019

F

18,295.98ET)

21. B E fEEE

(a)

(b)

REBR

AREEMARE  REBHER
ERERMTANKREAS - REMAS
BREEHEFRNNIEEESFR - EE
ESHRAT FAEZRIANRKRE
EERARE -

B E R
E¥RABESRMIANDIFES KRR
ReRBEEREREREHMKEN
BB

HREBEESB AN ST RILHE
A HBAEHEANEE AR -

FERR

FERREERMIAN-FFEER
AEBTEEMSI RS - HEZHE
BARRERE -

20.

21.

Contingent liabilities (continued)

During the year, the Fund paid a total of HK$52,517,000
(2019: nil) on settlement of part of the restitution claims and
the remaining balance of retained earnings set aside for
restitution claims as at 31 March 2020 was HK$30,442,000
(2019: HK$82,959,000).

Financial risk management

(a) Investment policy

To provide an ancillary source of income, surplus
cash is invested in a portfolio of financial instruments.
The portfolio includes fixed deposits and placement
with the Exchange Fund. It is the Fund's policy that
all investments in financial instruments should be
principal-protected.

(b) Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in currency exchange rates.

The Fund does not have significant exposure to
currency risk as substantially all of its financial
instruments are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

(c) Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and
cause the other party to incur a financial loss.
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21. B RGER (&
(c) EERMK #)

21. Financial risk management (continued)

(c) Creditrisk (continued)

EEESNEERBREZIURNIE
ESHFXR > BRIk R A & W
- EWREEATIRR - BRFIE
RITERRRITHESR - EBERFHR
FERBBE  UHBEERAEEN
EERR -

AEEREFERR  METHEX
WERREBNIFRERT BELEH
EERAABEGERR - BEAK
RIZEEERN12EANEREEFEN
THHE MEEETTETEHEER
WAREK -
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The Fund’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
placement with the Exchange Fund, trade and other
receivables, amounts due from related parties,
interest receivables, bank deposits and bank
balances. The Fund has a credit policy in place and
the exposure to these credit risks is monitored on an
ongoing basis.

To minimise credit risks, all fixed deposits are placed
with licensed banks in Hong Kong. These financial
assets are considered to have a low credit risk. The
loss allowances are measured at amounts equal to
12-month expected credit losses, which are assessed
to be immaterial by the Fund.

The credit quality of bank deposits and bank
balances, analysed by the ratings designated by
Moody's or their equivalent, is shown below:

2020 2019

FEERR
Aa1ZAa3
A1ZA3

“8st

Credit rating:

Aalto Aa3 233,400 194,130
Alto A3 522,100 332,200

Total 755,500 526,330

HAHMBEREEATARERE -
BeBEESAGTEBARGFERRE
W AERBEFEEEFEE -

EEESHNEREEARSANES
FERRESENZEENIREE -

D =tz mBHR

While other financial assets are subject to the
impairment requirements, the Fund has estimated
that their expected credit losses are minimal and
considers that no loss allowance is required.

The maximum exposure to credit risk of the financial
assets of the Fund at the reporting date is equal to
their carrying amounts.
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter
difficulty in meeting obligations associated with
financial liabilities.

The Fund manages liquidity risk by forecasting the
amount of cash required and monitoring the working
capital of the Fund to ensure that all liabilities due
and known funding requirements could be met. As
the Fund has a strong liquidity position, it has a very
low level of liquidity risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk of loss arising from
changes in market interest rates. This can be further
classified into fair value interest rate risk and cash
flow interest rate risk.

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair
value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. Since all of the
Fund’'s bank deposits bear interest at fixed rates,
their fair values will fall when market interest rates
increase. However, as they are all stated at amortised
cost, changes in market interest rates will not affect
their carrying amounts and the Fund'’s profit and
reserves.

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates. The Fund’s
exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is small as it
has no major floating-rate investments.
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21. Financial risk management (continued)

(f)
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(f)

Other financial risk

The Fund is exposed to financial risk arising from
changes in the interest rate on the placement with
the Exchange Fund which is determined every
January (note 10). It was estimated that, as at 31
March 2020, a 50 basis point (2019: 50 basis point)
increase / decrease in the interest rates for 2019
and 2020, with all other variables held constant,
would decrease / increase the loss for the year by
HK$2,626,000 (2019: increase / decrease the profit
for the year by HK$2,552,000).

Fair value

The fair values of financial instruments quoted in
active markets are based on their quoted prices at
the reporting date. In the absence of such quoted
market prices, fair values are estimated using present
value or other valuation techniques, using inputs
based on market conditions existing at the reporting
date.

All financial instruments are stated in the statement
of financial position at amounts equal to or not
materially different from their fair values.
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22, Possible impact of amendments, new
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standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new
standards and interpretations which are not yet effective
for the year ended 31 March 2020 and which have not
been early adopted in these financial statements.

The Fund is in the process of making an assessment
of the expected impact of these amendments, new
standards and interpretations in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
financial statements.
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Telecommunications Regulatory Affairs Advisory
Committee (as at 31 March 2020) (continued)
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Dr Patrick TSIE Kai Yiu
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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Chairman
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Secretary
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Solutions Limited / HKBN Enterprise Solutions HK Limited

Mr SHUEN Shiu Man
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Radio Spectrum and Technical Standards Advisory

Committee (as at 31 March 2020) (continued)
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Telecommunications Users and Consumers Advisory
Committee (as at 31 March 2020)

Chairman
Mr Sanda CHEUK
Deputy Director-General (Telecommunications), OFCA

Secretary
Ms Jamay WONG
Head of Consumer Affairs, OFCA

Members
Ms June IP Nga Kum
Representative of Consumer Council

Mr Ricky CHONG Lai Kei
Representative of Communications Association of Hong Kong (CAHK)
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Representative of The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

Mr Roy LAW
Representative of Hong Kong Wireless Technology Industry Association (HKWTIA)

Mr Eric YEUNG Chuen Sing
Representatives of Small and Medium Enterprises

Mr CHENG Wing Cheung
Representative of Education Bureau

Mr Johnny YUEN Man Kwong
Representative of the Aged Community

Mr William TANG
Representative of the Disabled Community

Mr CHUNG Chi Ming
Representative of the Disabled Community

Ms CHAN Pui Yi
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr CHAN Wing Tsz
Representative as a Member of the Public

Ms CHENG Wai Kwan
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr HUNG Hin Ching
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr KUNG Yin Ming
Representative as a Member of the Public

Dr LAU Kin Wai
Representative as a Member of the Public

Ms Katy LAU
Representative as a Member of the Public

Dr Mary LEE Wing Ming
Representative as a Member of the Public

Ms Eva LAU Sau Fan
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr Richard TSANG Lap Ki
Representative as a Member of the Public

Mr IP Wai Sun
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis

Mr LAU Ka Keung, MH, JP
Member appointed on an Ad Personam basis
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In 2019/20, we achieved/surpassed all performance targets in our
34 job areas. The full list of our performance targets for 2020/21

are also set out in the table below.

The level of service we provide is influenced to some extent by

ERREANBRBEAFERRELZISERK
BERARENHENIESE EEEEL
HER RASTERBIT LT THEER

exceptional circumstances and workloads during peak periods. The
following table takes these factors into account and sets out the standard

service delivery times we aim to achieve for a wide range of services.

BEE
RFE 20197205 B 201920 ERBRFBE 2019 20FEERFE 2020 21 EFEEEHE
(*202044 A FA#TEEIEE ) A RS GERRFBFEENT R E) HIRFE RN (ERABRBRREEE)
Services Service Delivery  Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
* f : f : Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
R e for 2019/20 standard) for 2019/20  2019/20 2020/21

BE IR S AR T3 R BB R 25
Processing of Broadcasting Service Licence Applications
iR, | f
4 E{REN : 3 : D ams ] q
Non-domestic Television Programme gfrlmths 1 OO% ﬁcﬁfpiﬁcation 1n!zfrjwths (1 OO%)

Service/Other Licensable Television
Programme Service

REEMRBEEEE 2

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications / Registrations

BENER G E R IR

Mobile Radio System Licence

E%';L kﬁ)i?s/f\rﬁnt of a new system 3 o?kﬂig;E days 98% 1 00% 3 {Eo?kﬁge days (98%)

Eg/j}ﬁﬁgiﬁ%é\ 3 o?kfﬁ?daysg 98% 100% 3 1v?o?k{iﬁgidays (98%)

Relocation / Addition of base station

mEBEHEE

Addition of mobile station
HWEEA
For stations of taxis

o%kfﬁgﬁdays 99% 100% o%kfﬁ?days (99%)

HthEH

For other stations g o{kﬁgﬁdays g 99% g 1 00% g Q:Ekfﬁsﬁdays (99%)
EMBHESREM :
Replacement of mobile station equipment :
HWt+EE : =
For st?:iins of taxis Eo%lgﬁgﬁdays 99% 1 OO% c;'lr:kfﬁZE days (99%)
HiEA .
For othe':lr stations Eo%lgﬁgﬁdays 99% 1 00% ;rtkfﬁzi days (99%)
HE L =
%ﬁ%nﬁ% ;l‘ Eﬁjg station equipment E&lﬁ.ﬁ? days 99% 1 OO% c;-lr:k1ilr'i3E days (99%)
ﬁﬁing}ﬁl\ience Eo%k'fiﬁgidays 9 9% 1 O 0% o{kﬁéﬁdays ( 9 9%)

D == mx




2019/20 ZEEEHESE Trading Fund Report

:........“h‘} : B 2
et PR <
- ,n et D
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Services Service Delivery  Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard

* item i i : Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for

e for 2019/20 standard) for2019/20  2019/20 2020/21

RREEMRBEBEE B (&)

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications / Registrations (continued)

:3?? Eﬁgiqi Licence 1VEI°:E|<1',E§ days 99% 1 00% c;-lr:k1i’r'igE days (99%)
T . Flea s i<} =
Ay St i b et 99% 100% BEEE (99%)
Electronic Machines Licence
g&ziﬁiﬂﬂiﬂﬁ% < K R BHRAY
e LY : (¢} () i 0
Ra}c:i-i-o Determination and Conveyance : 1"@0{&? days 99 A) 1 OO A) C’:rtkﬁg days (99 /0 )
of Commands, Status and Data Licence :
FMEEHLAXRGEE
Satellite Master Antenna Television
Licence :
= :
flﬁefi F;\'Ejpplic:ation 1 ﬁ;%kfﬁ? days - 980/0 1 00% @értlﬁgi days (98%)
e
Rﬁenewal* — — E— wcirtl({lﬁgidays (98%)
IL et S 2o el BB =
g?\fjg ?i;i}fr{ Licence ﬁﬂ.ﬁ? days 99% 1 00% cikfﬁge days (99%)
BB R £
%Ei:unr f‘fation Licence ﬁo{lﬁl’ﬁ? days 99% 1 00% cfrEkﬁ;E days (99%)
BRI EN R GHEE : .
gzllz;%';‘gii?c?t(it;;Qaslystem Licence ; 2 °%k1iﬁg%days 99% 1 00% wgéﬁgi days (99%)
PR 75 2 308 vl heR B
Services-based Operators Licence
178 37 FA 5
Response to new application
Cla:sﬁigﬁafs%%%ir%ice(s) 1 o%kﬁ?days 98% 1 00% wéll':lﬁg%days (98%)
%a%sﬁéﬁsiﬁice(s) 1 31?0%&?? days 99% 1 00% wcifk{lﬁgi days (99%)
R B R IR

Approval for issue of licence*

1rEc}frjmths (98%)

M=ERE & g
Aircraft Station Licence*

(BEA)

BIEX

BREREEEES MR

Broadcast Radio Relay Station Licence* :

working days**” ( 9 8 % )
BTER

wotergdays (98 %)
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Appendix C

AR 75 7% =6

REENRBEE8E B (&)

Processing of Telecommunications Service Licence Applications / Registrations (continued)

EEER (38%) MR

Hotel Television (Transmission) Licence

A
New Aﬁﬁlication*
& hE

Renewal*
|

Performance Pledge

1 5 BEIfEX

ey (98%)
11 Wiy (98%)

E%hﬁ**‘ﬂﬂﬁi‘%ﬁﬂu}ﬁ Bi*

Class Licence for Offer of

Telecommunications Services - Registration®

1455 (99%)

REARBSESAERBE IR

— B

Class Licence for Provision of Public Wireless :
Local Area Network Services - Registration*  :

14555 (99%)

i O &% A\ OFFEIRE*

Import and Export Permit*

CRERUREH S

CHF BT RKORD B

E UXERMR
CBAREIMEIAX

- Immediately over ()
‘counter upon (98 /0)
. payment by cash or

- EPS, or 3 working

- days by cheques or

. PPS

EEENE

Transhipment Notification*

wiz (EEE -

ﬁ?ﬂﬁﬁﬁ&l@

#) REEHERSEEPRR

\E;J]\ﬁa?r?the same day (98%)

Processing of Certificate and Endorsement Applications under the International Convention on

Standards of Training, Certification and Watchkeeping for Seafarers (STCW Convention)

2305 RIS 2 RAEEE RS

Global Maritime Distress and Safety
System (GMDSS) Certificate and
Endorsement

BIEX

working days -

95%

100%

BIEXR

wotergdays (99%)

2 LERNR2RASHEER
HAE RS

GMDSS Certificate of Equivalent
Competency and Endorsement

GaTEx
working days

95%

100%

c;-rtkfr'igedays (95 %)

ERETEAE

Investigation of Radio Interference

S : %6111’!59@9?&% : o o : %glﬂiiwﬁﬁ o

Interfgerence on commercial services : Investigation within 96 A’ 1 OO /0 Investigation within (96 /O)
* 6 working days . : 6 working days

o B RIS T8 %9#111?5?79%?? o o ggfllfﬁiﬁqiﬁﬁ 5

Ir‘rterference ;'m broadcasting services : Investigation within * 96 A’ 1 OO A’ * Investigation within (96 A) )
. 9 working days © 9 working days

(57 BEC AR E
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RFE 2019205 & 2019 205 EBBRHFEHE 2019 20 EB/IRTE 2020 215 R EEHE
(*20205F4 AFASEAEHIIEE ) R R IR (RBRBFEENETHE) HIRRTERI (ERABRBREBRE)
Services Service Delivery  Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
* P . f . Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
B R LA ) for2019/20 standard)for2019/20  2019/20 2020/21

FRESRES, SRS PR

numbers and codes

Processing of Applications for Numbers / Codes
I A SRS RS : : : L
Assignment of telecommunications @oﬂ/ﬁ?days 90% 1 OO% kaﬁ;%days (90%)

B EEASTRENENEE A nn § § o
at::kiriﬁ, Erﬂi%sﬁ;ga?dﬂg:eﬂt;i&i of : 1 oﬂ’ﬁgﬁ days 1 OO% 1 00% 1 cikﬁ? days (1 00%)

return of telecommunications numbers

BREARREER (EE (RIEHRI) E60) « (EEEGD - (8
Rt SEEERTRINEEE TR

Handling of Complaints about Broadcasting Matters involving Suspected Breach of the Broadcasting
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, the Broadcasting Ordinance, Part IlIA of the Telecommunications
Ordinance, the terms or conditions of a Broadcasting Licence, or the Broadcasting Codes of Practice

BT NLEE 1vlglo%k{iﬁgifdays 98% 100% ofkfﬁ?days (98%)

Issue of an interim reply

ARG 55 INA BB - FEiERRAR AR

REBARAENERENIRFARH

R (AMKRFEREE A 3

FREF N R EEE) : : : :

Inform complainants of results : e%f : 98% : 1 00% : e%?f (98%)
of cases not involving an

investigation (Note B) (or report of :

progress to the complainant if

results of cases are not ready)

AR THEAZNRGE

PN T EINCTE 2 R
(HInRFEAFBEIFER - Rl
B AR AR EEE)

Inform complainants of the eﬁkgf 98% 1 OO% eféq (98%)
CA's decision on complaints . . . 1

involving a straightforward : : : ]

investigation (Note B) (or report of

progress to the complainant if

the CA's decision is not ready)

ARESRITEMATNIRRE
SR N B RRER SRR ©° : : ]
(FIMKRFEABRIFR - AlA : : ]
R ANREERE) : . : : ] .
Inform complainants of the fmhs 98% 1 00% é?nhs (98%)
CA's decision on complaints : : : !
involving a complex : : : .
investigation (Note B) (or report of
progress to the complainant if
the CA’s decision is not ready)
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Appendix C | Performance Pledge

REAMEMENEIREER (BMEH) HERRBRBEGHEERF (BAF (BMEH) E7QE
By ERER D)

Handling of Consumer Complaints against Telecommunications Operators (except for complaints
relating to Section 7Q of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of the
Telecommunications Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Service Licences

RADERFA (RMAREHE _ : : :
EIE AT S 2 o%kfﬁéﬁdaysé 90% 100% 2 1v?c.'»:rl':k1i,r'icgidays (90%)

Full repfy to complainant (or interim
reply if full reply is not ready)

RREHM (EMEB) F7QiFEEHZ 0 R 5 (E H a0 iR
Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Operators relating to Section 7Q of the
Telecommunications Ordinance

%#ﬂ]lﬁlﬁ%%ﬁl (;:Ség*ﬁ%#ﬁﬂi : : i

& AFISEE) * : : : A 0
For enquiries, issue full reply (or 1 Eﬁkﬁgggﬁ (90 /0)
interim reply if full reply is not ready)* : ]

HEEERE T (RRERE : : : mm

Z A FIEEE) * : L : : : @Egﬁw 0
For complaints, issue full reply (NoteB) (or Weeks (90 /O)

interim reply if full reply is not ready)*

REARMAENHREER (EMKG) HE ﬂﬁﬁﬁmﬁ#M$ﬁE£(ﬁ¥< ﬂﬁﬂ>¥mﬁ%&ﬁ
BRoh)

Handling of Industry Complaints against Operators (except for complaints relating to Section 7Q
of the Telecommunications Ordinance) involving Suspected Breach of the Telecommunications
Ordinance or Licence Conditions of the Telecommunications Services Licences

'=‘n_, 1| & = 3 3 : fthin : : N . Within
45 BIEXA 90% REHER 45 BIERA (90%)

Completlon of full investigation (or working days : No new case working days
rort of progress to the complainant : .
f full investigation is not completed)

RERAEERE ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁ&Lﬁ(ﬁmﬁ%%ﬂ>mﬂ$%ﬁﬁimﬁﬂﬁﬂﬁ

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licensees on
Suspected Contravention of the Fair Trading Sections of the Trade Descriptions Ordinance

HHCEESD (FnREEFA : : . —

EE BB FEERE) * z I?ﬁlﬂfilﬁ 900/
For enquiries, issue full reply (or : : : ] working days ( 0)
interim reply if full reply is not ready)* : : : :

| EEERRE : | BRI

AR RERER QIR | : : P
RER A SR H AR RIS EE M * Within 90(y 1 Oocy * Within 907
For complaints, issue case progress @ 3monthsupon (] : (o : 3 months upon ( 0)
to the complainant if the case . acknowledgement : . . acknowledgement
result is not ready . of receiptofthe - : . of receipt of the

- complaint - complaint

D =zi= mn
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RFE 20197205 & 2019205 ERBRAEE 2019 205EERIBFE 2020 215FEFEREREEFR
(*20204E4 A FtA I E ) A R RS (RERBRENENE) HIRFERE (ERABRBERREEE)
Services Service Delivery  Performance Target Actual Average Service Delivery Standard
* item i i : Standard (% meeting service Performance in (Performance Target) for
e for 2019/20 standard) for2019/20  2019/20 2020/21

EERAMAREREAENXBERIRTER GRBHE6) HEHRIRSR

Handling of Enquiries and Complaints against Undertakings in the Broadcasting and

Telecommunications Sectors on Suspected Contravention of the Competition Ordinance

HHEEES (FINKRAEFH

! Wlthln

B - Al FNSEE) * : : : 48R (90%)
For enquiries, issue full reply (or : : : ! working days ()
interim reply if full reply is not ready)* : : :

HAEIERR =0 (HankeEEA : : : !

E7E > BIATFMEEE) * . . . ] Wlthln

For complaints, issue full reply (NoteB) - : - : — : wikﬁgggys (90%)
(or interim reply if full reply is not : : : .

ready)*

BRERMREER (FFEBE %.:ﬂ.mil*ﬁ'l)) E’Jéﬁiﬁ

Handling of Reports on the Suspected Contravention of the Unsolicited Electronic
Messages Ordinance

IIzkiE BE : ithin : : . ithin
Completion of full investigation (or report 1 0 {\Ee%ﬁﬁf n 9 0% 1 0 0% 1 0 e%l?f w (9 0%)
of progress to the complainant if full : : : :
investigation is not completed)

HAMEABRRBOABEHRRFIEHEE

Reply to Public Enquiries and Complaints of OFCA's Services

HAEEES (:SZ!IIHE E1R A4

E7% - AR TFIEE  Within : 3 : w.th.n
. B TR . . ] T 0
Full rep fy ly for enquiries (or interim . workfﬁg olligys . 90% . 1 OO% ] \1:ork1|’r'zE ggys (90 A))
reply if full reply cannot be provided) : : :

%¥§E%§J?§?ﬁﬁ§ﬂ§%lﬁ£%¥%ﬂi " it : :

HZ - AIEREAREEE) : Within : 0 : 0
Full reply for complaints (or report : 1 5 o%kﬁ?ggys : 90 /0 : 1 OO /O
of progress to the complainant if full  :

investigation is not completed)

wﬂﬁf dp:ys (90%)

TANEHERETENRMEFE-SEE  BRNEBRENERFEA

Note A OFCA will issue a letter to the applicant if its application can be referred to the Civil Aviation Department for further processing.

B AREIRER AR R ERERT o

Note B Upon receipt of sufficient information from complainants.
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Licences Issued and Renewed

HEEEMNERERE
h‘ﬂ,m%ﬂ BRI E

(2202053831 A FER)
ml‘l\Eﬁ

FEIE AR

T BEERE B R
AW EERE B R
AR ERE B R
HithAERERE B R
BEER

EEER FFOIEEE

BB ERENEE
TZHSEREESA

MZEEEA

EeMRER R

¥REA

BEEEREEEL

e i

ERNEREE

ERES

R, HINE E RS

EIEER (B%)

AQ/HORFTH

I¥ NERESETHEM

BOESERAGSEABBHERERE

BRI

DABSEETRAR

ARBEEBANRE

BEEE (HERH)

BEEENER

BRENEUARES

HEERHARE

EBEIEEHEN

ARAS & e 55 — AR 58 — SR AS

BRA%E e 55 = SR AE

e

R XA

W RESHENRE

PIEMER P UES

ESYBR BN B EIEIR

ECL

REER BB A

D == mx

Broadcasting and Telecommunications Licences
Issued / Renewed and Revenue Collected

(For the year ended 31 March 2020)

SEhEEheEE

No. of Licences
Issued / Renewed

Type of Licences

Broadcasting Licences

Domestic Free Television Programme Service 3
Domestic Pay Television Programme Service 2
Non-domestic Television Programme Service 12
Other Licensable Television Programme Service 21
Sound Broadcasting 2

Telecommunications Licences / Permits / Certificates

Academic Institution Self-provided Telecommunications Installation 2
Aeronautical VHF Fixed Station 37
Aircraft Station 393
Amateur ATO 797
Amateur Station 2,611
Broadcast Radio Relay Station 12
Duplicate Licence 168
Examination & Issue of Certificate 1,866
Experimental Station 76
Fixed Internal / External Services 52
Hotel Television (Transmission) 165
Import / Export Permit 676
Industrial, Scientific & Medical Electronic Machine 1,644
Mobile Radio System or Private Mobile Radio System 3,727
Mobile Services 10
Private Radio Paging System 4
Public Radiocommunications Service 8
Radio Dealers (Unrestricted) 3,678
Radiocommunications School 6
Radiodetermination and Conveyance of Commands, Status and Data 192
Satellite Master Antenna Television 65
Self-provided External Telecommunications System 5
Services-based Operator of Class 1 or 2 Service 19
Services-based Operator of Class 3 Service 480
Ship Station 4,599
Space Station Carrier 11
Taxi Radiocommunications Service 22
Wide Band Link & Relay Station 54
Wireless Internet of Things / Localised Wireless Broadband Service 4
Total 21,423

21,916,175
10,846,830
751,106
789,250
9,427,305

7,000
50,750
56,662

127,587
393,925
9,625
9,240
293,775
23,800
115,285,067
663,325
101,400
142,820
30,719,659
178,214,800
9,675
1,502,513
5,674,250
1,800
187,986
5,374,863
4,750
1,252,772
19,321,567
664,025
1,988,500
535,854
120,975
452,183

406,921,814




=

X

BHSHEERREMLE
OFFICE OF THE
= COMMUNICATIONS AUTHORITY

B EHEERNAE

Office of the Communications Authority

#th it Address  BBBERRNER213FHERE291E
29/F Wu Chung House, 213 Queen's Road East
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

B ELR Enquiry Hotline : 2961 6333

i Website : www.ofca.gov.hk n
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